

U.S. Department of Justice Federal Bureau of Prisons

LEGAL RESOURCE GUIDE TO THE FEDERAL BUREAU OF PRISONS

2025

* Statutes, regulations, case law, and agency policies (i.e., Program Statements) referred to in this Guide are current as of April 2025.

<u> IIN I</u>	TRODUCTION	•••
Тн	E BUREAU OF PRISONS MISSION, VISION, CORE VALUES, & IDEOLOGIES	
1.	Mission	
2.	Vision	
3.	Core Values	•••
	Accountability	
	Integrity	
	Respect	
	Compassion Correctional Excellence	
4.	Ideologies	
	POSE	
	BSITES	
	TRICT OF COLUMBIA CODE FELONY INAMTES	
210		
PR	ETRIAL ISSUES	
Pri	TTRIAL DETENTION	•
Pri		
Pri Pri	CTRIAL DETENTION CTRIAL DETAINEE HEALTH CARE	•••
Pri Pri	TTRIAL DETENTION	•••
Pri Pri <u>EV</u>	ETRIAL DETENTION ETRIAL DETAINEE HEALTH CARE ALUATION OF INMATE'S MENTAL CAPACITY	
Pri Pri <u>EV</u>	TTRIAL DETENTION TTRIAL DETAINEE HEALTH CARE ALUATION OF INMATE'S MENTAL CAPACITY NTAL EVALUATION AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S.C. § 4241	
Pri Pri <u>EV</u> Me De	ETRIAL DETENTION ETRIAL DETAINEE HEALTH CARE ALUATION OF INMATE'S MENTAL CAPACITY NTAL EVALUATION AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S.C. § 4241 FERMINATION OF INSANITY AT TIME OF OFFENSE AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S.	
PRI PRI <u>EV</u> ME DE 424	TTRIAL DETENTION TTRIAL DETAINEE HEALTH CARE ALUATION OF INMATE'S MENTAL CAPACITY NTAL EVALUATION AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S.C. § 4241 FERMINATION OF INSANITY AT TIME OF OFFENSE AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S. 2–4243	
Pri Pri EV ME DE 424 ME	TTRIAL DETENTION TTRIAL DETAINEE HEALTH CARE ALUATION OF INMATE'S MENTAL CAPACITY NTAL EVALUATION AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S.C. § 4241 TERMINATION OF INSANITY AT TIME OF OFFENSE AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S. 2–4243 NTAL CONDITION PRIOR TO TIME OF SENTENCING: 18 U.S.C. § 4244	
Pri Pri EV Me De 424 Me Pos	ETRIAL DETENTION ETRIAL DETAINEE HEALTH CARE ALUATION OF INMATE'S MENTAL CAPACITY NTAL EVALUATION AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S.C. § 4241 FERMINATION OF INSANITY AT TIME OF OFFENSE AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S. 2–4243 NTAL CONDITION PRIOR TO TIME OF SENTENCING: 18 U.S.C. § 4244 ST-SENTENCING HOSPITALIZATION: 18 U.S.C. § 4245	
Pri Pri EV ME DE 424 ME Pos	TTRIAL DETENTION TTRIAL DETAINEE HEALTH CARE ALUATION OF INMATE'S MENTAL CAPACITY NTAL EVALUATION AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S.C. § 4241 TERMINATION OF INSANITY AT TIME OF OFFENSE AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S. 2–4243 NTAL CONDITION PRIOR TO TIME OF SENTENCING: 18 U.S.C. § 4244	
PRI PRI EV ME DE ^T 424 ME POS HO U.S	TRIAL DETENTION TRIAL DETAINEE HEALTH CARE ALUATION OF INMATE'S MENTAL CAPACITY NTAL EVALUATION AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S.C. § 4241 TERMINATION OF INSANITY AT TIME OF OFFENSE AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S. 2–4243 NTAL CONDITION PRIOR TO TIME OF SENTENCING: 18 U.S.C. § 4244 ST-SENTENCING HOSPITALIZATION: 18 U.S.C. § 4245 SPITALIZATION OF A MENTALLY INCOMPETENT PERSON DUE FOR RELEASE: 1 .C. § 4246	
PRI PRI EV ME DE 424 ME POS HO U.S	TRIAL DETENTION TRIAL DETAINEE HEALTH CARE ALUATION OF INMATE'S MENTAL CAPACITY NTAL EVALUATION AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S.C. § 4241 TERMINATION OF INSANITY AT TIME OF OFFENSE AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S. 2–4243 NTAL CONDITION PRIOR TO TIME OF SENTENCING: 18 U.S.C. § 4244 NTAL CONDITION PRIOR TO TIME OF SENTENCING: 18 U.S.C. § 4244 SPITALIZATION OF A MENTALLY INCOMPETENT PERSON DUE FOR RELEASE: 1	
PRI PRI EV ME DE 424 ME POS HO U.S CIV	TRIAL DETENTION TRIAL DETAINEE HEALTH CARE ALUATION OF INMATE'S MENTAL CAPACITY NTAL EVALUATION AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S.C. § 4241 TERMINATION OF INSANITY AT TIME OF OFFENSE AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S. 2–4243 NTAL CONDITION PRIOR TO TIME OF SENTENCING: 18 U.S.C. § 4244 ST-SENTENCING HOSPITALIZATION: 18 U.S.C. § 4245 SPITALIZATION OF A MENTALLY INCOMPETENT PERSON DUE FOR RELEASE: 1 .C. § 4246	
PRI PRI EV ME DE 424 ME POS HO U.S CIV EXA	TRIAL DETENTION TRIAL DETAINEE HEALTH CARE ALUATION OF INMATE'S MENTAL CAPACITY NTAL EVALUATION AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S.C. § 4241 TERMINATION OF INSANITY AT TIME OF OFFENSE AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S. 2–4243 NTAL CONDITION PRIOR TO TIME OF SENTENCING: 18 U.S.C. § 4244 ST-SENTENCING HOSPITALIZATION: 18 U.S.C. § 4245 SPITALIZATION OF A MENTALLY INCOMPETENT PERSON DUE FOR RELEASE: 1 .C. § 4246 IL COMMITMENT OF A SEXUALLY DANGEROUS PERSON: 18 U.S.C. § 4248 MINATION OF AN INMATE ELIGIBLE FOR PAROLE: 18 U.S.C. § 4205	
PRI PRI EV ME DE 424 ME POS HO U.S CIV EXA PRI	TRIAL DETENTION TRIAL DETAINEE HEALTH CARE ALUATION OF INMATE'S MENTAL CAPACITY Intal Evaluation and Commitment: 18 U.S.C. § 4241 Itermination of Insanity at Time of Offense and Commitment: 18 U.S. 2–4243 Intal Condition Prior to Time of Sentencing: 18 U.S.C. § 4244 Ital Condition Prior to Time of Sentencing: 18 U.S.C. § 4244 Spitalization of a Mentally Incompetent Person Due for Release: 1 .C. § 4246 IL Commitment of a Sexually Dangerous Person: 18 U.S.C. § 4248	
PRI PRI PRI EV ME DET 424 ME POS HO U.S CIV EXA PRI 355	TRIAL DETENTION TRIAL DETAINEE HEALTH CARE ALUATION OF INMATE'S MENTAL CAPACITY INTAL EVALUATION AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S.C. § 4241 TERMINATION OF INSANITY AT TIME OF OFFENSE AND COMMITMENT: 18 U.S. 2–4243 INTAL CONDITION PRIOR TO TIME OF SENTENCING: 18 U.S.C. § 4244 ST-SENTENCING HOSPITALIZATION: 18 U.S.C. § 4245 SPITALIZATION OF A MENTALLY INCOMPETENT PERSON DUE FOR RELEASE: 1 .C. § 4246 IL COMMITMENT OF A SEXUALLY DANGEROUS PERSON: 18 U.S.C. § 4248 MINATION OF AN INMATE ELIGIBLE FOR PAROLE: 18 U.S.C. § 4205 SENTENCE STUDY, PSYCHOLOGICAL OR PSYCHIATRIC EXAMINATION: 18 U.S.	

Table of Contents

	2.	Intermittent Confinement	10	
B.	HOM	AE DETENTION	10	
C.	Imprisonment			
	1.	Institutional Confinement		
	2.	Service of Sentence in Non-Federal Facilities	11	
	3.	Juvenile Offenders	11	
		Confinement of Persons Under Age 18	11	
		Confinement of Persons 18 to 21 Years of Age	11	
		Persons Who Turn 21 While Serving a JJDPA Sentence	12	
D.	JUD	GMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE		
	1.	Judicial Recommendations for a Specific Institution, Geographic Area, or Spec		
	U	ram		
	2.	Sentence Calculation		
		Commencement of a Term of Imprisonment	13	
		Credit for Prior Custody	13	
		Credit for Satisfactory Behavior ("Good Conduct Time")	14	
		Fines and Costs of Confinement	14	
		Inmate Financial Responsibility Program	15	
<u>V.</u>	POS	ST-CONVICTION ISSUES	16	
A.	DES	IGNATION TO A FACILITY FOR SERVICE OF A TERM OF IMPRISONMENT		
	1.	Security Designation and Custody Classification		
	2.	DNA Collection		
	3.	Transportation to a Designated Institution		
	4.	Interstate Agreement on Detainers		
	5.	Central Inmate Monitoring System		
	6.	Communication Management Units		
	7.	Special Management Units		
В.		IISSION AND ORIENTATION PROGRAM FOR INMATES		
C.	Spe	CIAL HOUSING, PROGRAMS, AND GENERAL SERVICES		
	1.	Special Housing Units		
	2.	Education and Recreation Programs		
	3.	Religious Programs		
	4.	Food Service		
	5.	Work Programs and UNICOR		
	6.	Inmate Accident Compensation		
		Lost-Time Wage Program	22	
	_	Compensation for Work-Related Physical Impairment or Death	23	
	7.	Female Inmates		
		Birth Control and Pregnancy	23	
	C	Abortion	24	
	8.	Substance Abuse Treatment		
	9.	Urine Surveillance Program		
	10.	Medical Services		
		Medical Services Available to Sentenced Inmates	26	
		Federal Medical Centers	27	

		FMC Butner, North Carolina	27
		FMC Carswell, Fort Worth, Texas	27
		FMC Devens, Massachusetts	27
		FMC Fort Worth, Texas	27
		FMC Lexington, Kentucky	27
		FMC Rochester, Minnesota	28
		U.S. Medical Center for Federal Prisoners (USMCFP), Springfield, Missouri	28
		Voluntary Mental Health and Medical Treatment	28
	11.	Managing Infectious Disease	
	12.	Mental Health Counseling and Treatment Services	
	12.	Involuntary Mental Health Treatment	29
		Mental Health Programs	30
		Sex Offender Management and Treatment	30
		Implementation of the Prison Rape Elimination Act of 2003	31
D.	VICITI	ING, TELEPHONES, AND CORRESPONDENCE	
D .	1.	Visiting	
	1. 2.		
		Telephones	
Б	3.	Written and Electronic Correspondence	
E.		re Discipline Program	
F.		TE ACCESS TO THE COURTS	
	1.	Law Libraries	
	2.	Preparation of Legal Documents	
	3.	Attorneys	
		Visits by Foreign Attorneys	35
	4.	Legal Mail	
	5.	Unmonitored Legal Telephone Calls	
	6.	Inmate Involvement in Litigation While Incarcerated	36
		Depositions	36
		Subpoenas	36
		Service of Process on Inmates	37
		State Court Appearance of an Inmate	37
		Inmate Access to Electronic Discovery Materials	37
G.	Admi	NISTRATIVE REMEDY PROGRAM	. 37
H.	INMAT	re Personal Property	. 39
I.	INMAT	re Liens	. 39
J.		AL ADMINISTRATIVE MEASURES	
	1	National Security Cases, 28 C.F.R. § 501.2.	
	2.	Prevention of Acts of Violence and Terrorism, 28 C.F.R. § 501.3	
K.		LY EMERGENCIES AND TEMPORARY RELEASES	
Л.	1.	Furloughs	
	1. 2.	Escorted Trips	
т		•	
L.			
	1.	Early Release from Prison	
		Executive Clemency	41
	~	Reduction in Sentence	42
	2.	Parole	
	3.	Pre-Release or Community Confinement in Preparation for Release	
	4.	Home Confinement	43

M. NOTIFICATION TO THE COMMUNITY OF THE RELEASE OF AN INMATE			rst Step Act Programming Time Credits	
VII. APPENDICES 45 APPENDIX A: SUMMARY18 U.S.C. § 313, INMATE MENTAL DISEASE/DEFECT. A APPENDIX B: REGIONAL COUNSEL AND CONSOLIDATED LEGAL CENTER OFFICES MAY 28, 2024	М.	NOTIFICA	ATION TO THE COMMUNITY OF THE RELEASE OF AN INMATE	
VII. APPENDICES 45 APPENDIX A: SUMMARY18 U.S.C. § 313, INMATE MENTAL DISEASE/DEFECT. A APPENDIX B: REGIONAL COUNSEL AND CONSOLIDATED LEGAL CENTER OFFICES MAY 28, 2024	VI.	CONCL	USION	45
APPENDIX A: SUMMARY18 U.S.C. § 313, INMATE MENTAL DISEASE/DEFECTA APPENDIX B: REGIONAL COUNSEL AND CONSOLIDATED LEGAL CENTER OFFICES MAY 28, 2024				
APPENDIX B:REGIONAL COUNSEL AND CONSOLIDATED LEGAL CENTER OFFICESMAY28, 2024	<u>VII.</u>	<u>APPENI</u>	DICES	
MXROEFCI BeckleyEFMC ButnerEFMC LexingtonENEROEFCC AllenwoodEFMC DevensEMCC New YorkENCROEFCC FlorenceEFMC RochesterESt. Louis, MOEWXROEMDC Los AngelesEFOC SeaTacESCROEFCC BeaumontEFDC SeaTacESCROEFDC ColemanEFCC ColemanEFCC ColemanEFCI PloquitaEFCC JeagefieldEMDC GuaynaboEFCI JasupEFCI TalladegaEFCC Yazoo CityE	APPI	ENDIX B:	REGIONAL COUNSEL AND CONSOLIDATED LEGAL CENTER OFFICES	MAY
FCI MiamiEFCI TalladegaEFCC Yazoo CityE			FCI Beckley FMC Butner FMC Lexington NERO FCC Allenwood FMC Devens MCC New York NCRO FCC Florence FMC Rochester St. Louis, MO WXRO MDC Los Angeles FCI Phoenix FDC SeaTac SCRO FCC Beaumont FDC SeaTac SCRO FCC Beaumont FDC Houston FTC Oklahoma City USP Atlanta FCC Coleman SC/FCI Edgefield MDC Guaynabo	E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E
	Дррі	ENDIX C.	FCI Miami FCI Talladega	E E E

I. INTRODUCTION

The Federal Bureau of Prisons (BOP), an agency of the United States Department of Justice, was established in 1930 to provide more progressive and humane care for federal adults in custody¹, to professionalize the federal prison system, and to ensure consistent and centralized administration of the 11 federal prisons in operation at that time. Today, the BOP consists of 122 institutions, six Regional Offices; a Central Office located in Washington, D.C.; a Designation and Sentence Computation Center (DSCC) and the Human Resources Services Center located in Grand Prairie, Texas; two staff training centers; and 24 Residential Reentry Management Offices (RRM).

Central Office functions as the BOP's headquarters and provides overall administrative management of, and oversight over, all BOP facilities, and regional offices. For this purpose, the Office of General Counsel (OGC) in the Central Office retains numerous legal offices for handling specific concerns related to BOP responsibilities and activities. The OGC consists of the Commercial Law Branch, the Employment Law Branch, the Legal Administrative Branch (including the Freedom of Information and Privacy Act programs), the Legislative and Correctional Issues Branch, the Litigation Branch, the Real Estate and Environmental Law Branch, the Ethics Office, and the Office of Internal Affairs. Regional Offices provide administrative oversight and support to the region's respective institutions and RRMs.

The DSCC is located in Grand Prairie, Texas. The DSCC designates federal inmates to appropriate facilities located within the federal prison system and calculates inmates' sentences based on the information provided by the sentencing court and the application of federal laws and Bureau policy; BOP; the Office of Medical Designations and Transportation (OMDT), overseen by the BOP's Health Services Division, designates inmates with specific medical needs. RRMs oversee Residential Reentry Centers (RRCs) and home confinement programs. Inmates may be designated to any one BOP facility: a United States Penitentiary (USP); a Federal Correctional Institution (FCI); a Federal Medical Center (FMC); a Federal Prison Camp (FPC); a Federal Detention Center (FDC); or an Administrative Maximum Facility (ADX). Institutions of varied security levels may be co-located at a Federal Correctional Complex (FCC). No federal inmates are designated to serve their sentences in private facilities at this time.

The BOP is responsible for the custody and care of sentenced federal inmates, including a significant number of pretrial defendants and pre-sentence inmates housed in our facilities on behalf of the United States Marshals Service (USMS). In addition, the BOP has custodial responsibility for District of Columbia (D.C.) felons sentenced to terms of imprisonment, and for state and military inmates housed on a contractual basis. Data regarding BOP's current incarcerated persons population, as well as breakdowns of population by facility and type of facility, are available on the BOP's public website: https://www.BOP.gov/about/statistics/.

Federal Prison Industries ("UNICOR") and the National Institute of Corrections (NIC) are components of the BOP. UNICOR is managed by a Board of Directors, and the Director of the BOP serves as its Chief Executive Officer. Created by Congress in 1934, this government corporation provides inmates with needed prison employment and the opportunity to learn

¹ Throughout the Legal Resource Guide, the term "inmate" is used to describe adults in BOP custody. The term inmate is used interchangeably with defendant to describe adults in custody that have and have not been convicted.

marketable skills. Items produced in UNICOR factories are sold to government agencies nationwide. Many BOP institutions house a UNICOR factory or service.

The NIC, established in 1974, provides training, technical assistance, information services, and cooperative agreement awards to service provider groups, and directly assists state and local corrections agencies. The NIC Director and 16-member Advisory Board, appointed by the Attorney General, advise assistance strategies and manage the NIC's funding priorities.

A. The Bureau of Prisons Mission, Vision, Core Values, & Ideologies

1. Mission

Corrections professionals who foster a humane and secure environment and ensure public safety by preparing individuals for successful reentry into our communities.

2. Vision

Our highly skilled, diverse, and innovative workforce creates a strong foundation of safety and security. Through the principles of humanity and normalcy, we develop good neighbors.

3. Core Values

Accountability

We are responsible and transparent to the public, ourselves, and to those in our care and custody by the standards we establish, the actions we take, and the duties we perform.

Integrity

We are true to our ethical standards in all circumstances.

Respect

We foster an inclusive environment where the viewpoints of employees, the public, and those in our care and custody are considered and valued.

Compassion

We will strive to understand one another's circumstances and act with empathy and by we, we mean each other as colleagues and corrections professionals and also compassion for those in our care and custody.

Correctional Excellence

We demonstrate leadership in our corrections field through our practices and values.

4. Ideologies

The BOP is committed to providing:

- A safe environment for both staff and inmates,
- Secure institutions to confine offenders and protect the public,
- Those skills building programs we can afford, to offer inmates the opportunity to live crime-free lives,
- Service and stewardship to the public and a continued tradition of excellence,
- Staff who are ethical, professional, well-trained, and diverse.

B. Purpose

This guide is intended to serve as a resource for members of the public, counsel, and the courts regarding relevant statutes, regulations, policies, and current case law concerning issues the BOP faces today. It provides a general overview of the BOP, its services, and its programs. Statutes, regulations, case law, and agency policies (i.e., Program Statements), referred to in this guide may have changed since publication. Therefore, readers are advised to review the BOP's website and confirm cited legal references when exploring BOP matters.

Further inquiries should be directed to the appropriate BOP legal staff, located in the Office of General Counsel in Washington, D.C.; at the various Regional Officers; and in Consolidated Legal Centers (CLCs) that service specific institutions. <u>See</u> Appendix B.

C. Websites

The BOP home page is located at <u>www.BOP.gov.</u> We recommend consulting the site for population data, policies/Program Statements, a directory of BOP facilities and offices, inmate locator information, employment opportunities, directions for inquiries under the Freedom of Information Act, and links to other relevant sites. The site for NIC is <u>www.nicic.gov</u>. UNICOR's site is <u>www.UNICOR.gov</u>.

D. District of Columbia Code Felony Inmates

By virtue of section 11201 of chapter 1 of Subtitle C of Title XI of the National Capital Revitalization and Self-Government Improvement Act of 1997, enacted August 5, 1997, Pub. L. No. 105-33, the BOP administers the imprisonment terms of felony inmates convicted under the D.C. criminal code. The BOP has broad authority to provide for the "custody, care, subsistence, education, treatment and training" of D.C. Code felony inmates in its custody "consistent with the sentence[s] imposed." See D.C. Code § 24-101(b). With few exceptions, the BOP manages D.C. Code inmates no differently from U.S. Code inmates.

II. PRETRIAL ISSUES

A. Pretrial Detention

The BOP and USMS cooperate to manage the allocation of federal detention bedspace. Pretrial inmates may be detained at BOP detention centers and at other BOP facilities pending prosecution and/or sentencing. The USMS acquires detention bedspace through agreements with state and local governments; contracts with private vendors; and utilization of available BOP pretrial cells. The development of detention resources in key districts—while emphasizing appropriately structured community supervision alternatives for non-violent inmates—is the primary focus of this cooperative effort. To the extent practicable, pretrial inmates in BOP facilities are separated from sentenced inmates, in accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 3142(i)(2). See also 28 C.F.R. § 551.104 (stating pretrial defendants will be housed separately from convicted inmates to the extent practicable).

Should a court have concerns about conditions of confinement, access to medical care, or any other issue relating to a defendant's pretrial detention in a BOP facility, the BOP requests the opportunity to address such concerns prior to the issuance of an order. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 551.100–.120; Program Statement 7331.05, Pretrial Inmates. Wardens and other custodians are not parties to the criminal prosecution, and the BOP has no independent litigating authority to represent its interests before the court, including in response to such concerns from the court. Although BOP legal staff servicing individual institutions may assist by explaining BOP policies and procedures, BOP counsel do not formally represent the agency in the criminal matter. The Assistant United States Attorney prosecuting the case should contact the Warden or the BOP legal office at the affected institution for assistance in responding to any concerns formally or informally lodged with the court.

B. Pretrial Detainee Health Care

Pretrial detainees held in BOP institutions are provided on-site medical care by BOP staff and contractors. The BOP is responsible for the costs associated with medical care provided in BOP-managed institutions and in the community. <u>See Estelle v. Gamble</u>, 429 U.S. 97 (1976) (holding medical malpractice in correctional institutions may, under certain conditions, rise to the level of "cruel and unusual punishment"). The USMS is responsible for the transportation of pretrial detainees to community-based medical services, with the exception of USMS detainees housed at consolidated sites (e.g., Metropolitan Detention Center (MDC) Brooklyn, Metropolitan Correctional Center (MCC) New York, FDC Miami, MDC Guaynabo, FMC Fort Worth, and FCI Seagoville). The USMS contracts with community medical providers to address the needs of detainees held in non-BOP facilities.

There is virtually no health care issue that would preclude a defendant from being committed to a federal institution because medical care is available in *all* BOP facilities. Male inmates whose health care needs exceed those services available in a typical institution may be transferred to a

BOP FMC in Springfield, Missouri; Rochester, Minnesota; Butner, North Carolina; Lexington, Kentucky; Fort Worth, Texas; or Ayer (Devens), Massachusetts. Female inmates may be transferred to FMC Carswell in Fort Worth, Texas. Should an inmate require more specialized care, the inmate is sent to an appropriate community facility.

Specialized health care for sentenced detainees is also available at several BOP institutions, and all institutions are wheelchair accessible. <u>See infra</u> V.C.11, <u>Medical Services</u>.

III. EVALUATION OF INMATE MENTAL CAPACITY

In 1984, as part of a major sentencing reform effort, Congress enacted comprehensive provisions addressing the evaluation and treatment of mentally ill inmates. Title 18 of the United States Code, §§ 4241–4247, describes necessary judicial procedures that must be followed when an inmate appears to be, or is, currently suffering from a mental disease or defect. See also 28 C.F.R §§ 549.40–.46; Program Statement 5310.17, Psychology Services Manual; Program Statement 5070.12, Forensic and Other Mental Health Evaluations; Program Statement 5310.16, CN-1, Treatment and Care of Inmates with Mental Illness; Program Statement 6010.03, Psychiatric Evaluation and Treatment; Program Statement 6340.04, Psychiatric Services. The Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Act of 2006 (Walsh Act), Pub. L. No. 109-248, provides for the civil commitment of a sexually dangerous person subsequent to the completion of the term of incarceration, as codified in 18 U.S.C. § 4248. For more information on the Walsh Act, see infra V.C.13, Mental Health Counseling and Treatment, Sex Offender Management and Treatment. A Summary Table of the following statutes, under chapter 313, is attached as Appendix A.

Evaluations may be performed by an outside (non-BOP) psychologist or psychiatrist by specifically designating that condition in the study order. If the defendant is housed in a BOP facility, a judge may designate in the order that an outside psychologist or psychiatrist be admitted into the facility to conduct the examination. If the defendant is housed in a local non-BOP facility, a judge may simply note in the order that an outside psychologist or psychiatrist be admitted into that local non-BOP facility to conduct the examination. The appropriate mental health professional must contact the institution in advance to arrange admission into the facility to examine the inmate and avoid unnecessary delays. A court-ordered study conducted by a community psychologist or psychiatrist is a far quicker and less costly process. If an FMC placement is required, the statutory timeline does not begin until the inmate is received at the designated facility for evaluation.

A. Mental Evaluation and Commitment: 18 U.S.C. § 4241

Title 18 of the United States Code, § 4241, explains the procedures necessary for determining the mental competency of a defendant at any time after the commencement of prosecution, but prior to sentencing. Should there be reasonable cause to question the defendant's competency, the court will order a hearing upon the motion of one of the parties, or upon its own motion. See 18 U.S.C. § 4241(a). Prior to the hearing, the court may order the defendant to undergo a psychiatric or psychological examination. See 18 U.S.C. § 4241(b). BOP has specially trained forensic psychologists but limited psychiatric resources. So, the BOP requests that courts order psychological examinations, reserving psychiatric examinations only for cases where a

psychiatrist's review is absolutely necessary.

The court may commit the defendant to the custody of the Attorney General for placement in a suitable facility² to be examined for a reasonable period not to exceed 30 days, unless the director of the examining facility requests a reasonable extension, not to exceed 15 days. See 18 U.S.C. \S 4247(b). After the examination period expires, a report is filed with the court by the facility's staff, and copies are provided to counsel. The BOP strongly encourages the court to have the initial \S 4241 evaluation conducted by outside, non-BOP mental health professionals; the court can accomplish this by designating the outside specialist in the study order.

Following the hearing, if the court finds by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant is mentally incompetent, the court must commit the defendant to the custody of the Attorney General for hospitalization and treatment in a suitable facility. This commitment period is for a reasonable period of time, not to exceed four months, to evaluate whether there is a substantial probability that, in the foreseeable future, restoration of competency will result. See 18 U.S.C. § 4241(d)(1).³

An additional commitment period may be ordered if the charges have not been disposed of, and the court determines there is a *substantial probability* that the defendant will become competent to stand trial in the foreseeable future. See 18 U.S.C. § 4241(d)(2). The defendant cannot, however, be committed for a determination of his or her competency to stand trial for a period longer than the maximum possible sentence he or she faces. See United States v. DeBellis, 649 F.2d 1 (1st Cir. 1981). If the defendant becomes competent to stand trial during the examination period, the director of the examining facility files a certificate with the court stating such. A second competency hearing is held and, if the defendant is shown to be competent by a *preponderance of the evidence*, the prosecution resumes. See 18 U.S.C. § 4241(e).

B. Determination of Insanity at Time of Offense and Commitment: 18 U.S.C. §§ 4242–4243

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 4242(a), the prosecuting attorney, after receiving notice that the defendant intends to rely upon the defense of insanity, may ask the court to order the defendant to undergo a psychological or psychiatric examination. Similar to a § 4241 study as described above, the § 4242 study may be conducted locally or, where incarceration is deemed necessary, at a BOP facility. After the issue of insanity has been raised, the fact finder is required to reach a special verdict of guilty; not guilty; or not guilty only by reason of insanity. See 18 U.S.C. § 4242(b).

When a defendant has been found not guilty only by reason of insanity, a hearing will be conducted no later than 40 days after the special verdict. See 18 U.S.C. § 4243(c). At the hearing, a person found not guilty solely by reason of insanity has the burden of proving by clear and convincing

² In addition to BOP and USMS contract facilities, 18 U.S.C. § 4247(i)(A) authorizes the Attorney General to contract with states, localities, political subdivisions, or private agencies for the confinement, hospitalization, or treatment of a person committed pursuant to 18 U.S.C. chapter 313.

³ The Supreme Court has held that the government may, in some circumstances, involuntarily administer antipsychotic drugs to a mentally ill defendant facing serious criminal charges in order to render the defendant competent to stand trial. <u>See Sell v. United States</u>, 539 U.S. 166 (2003).

evidence that his or her release would not create a substantial risk of bodily injury to another person or serious damage to the property of another due to a present mental disease or defect. See 18 U.S.C. § 4243(d). Note that while the hearing *must* take place within 40 days, § 4247(b) states that the examination under § 4243 *may not exceed* 45 days. If the defendant fails to meet the evidentiary standard, he or she will be committed to the custody of the Attorney General.

Once the inmate has been committed, the Attorney General will make continuous, reasonable efforts to release the inmate to the state in which he or she was domiciled or tried, if the state will assume responsibility for his or her custody, care, and treatment. The Attorney General has authority to stipulate the terms and conditions under which an individual acquitted by federal insanity will be placed in state custody for care and treatment. See 18 U.S.C. § 4243(e). There is a continuing federal interest in the inmate's state placement or conditional release, and any transferred individual cannot be unconditionally released by the state facility without the committing court's concurrence. So, prior to discharge, the director of the state facility must first comply with 18 U.S.C. § 4243(f), and notify the committing court of potential release. The federal court, applying federal standards, decides whether the acquitted individual will be discharged.

C. Mental Condition Prior to Time of Sentencing: 18 U.S.C. § 4244

If a defendant is found guilty of an offense, but a question is raised as to his or her mental condition prior to sentencing, the court may order a hearing and a mental examination to determine whether the defendant is presently suffering from a mental disease or defect such that commitment to a suitable facility for care or treatment, in lieu of imprisonment, is appropriate. See 18 U.S.C. § 4244(a). If, after the hearing, the court finds by a preponderance of the evidence that such placement is appropriate, the defendant will be provisionally sentenced to the maximum term authorized by law and committed to the custody of the Attorney General for hospitalization in a suitable facility. See 18 U.S.C. § 4244(d). If the defendant later recovers to the extent that he or she is no longer in need of care and treatment, the defendant will proceed to final sentencing. See 18 U.S.C. § 4244(e). The court then has the option of modifying the provisional sentence.

D. Post-Sentencing Hospitalization: 18 U.S.C. § 4245

Title 18 of the United States Code, § 4245, provides for hospitalization and treatment of sentenced inmates found to be suffering from a mental disease or defect. If an inmate refuses to consent to hospitalization for care and treatment, § 4245 describes the method for involuntary hospitalization.

The court may order the hospitalization of a defendant for care or treatment if, after a hearing, the court finds by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant is suffering from a mental disease or defect, the treatment for which requires hospitalization. See 18 U.S.C. § 4245(d). Section 4245(e) provides that the commitment may be discharged upon certification from the Warden that the inmate has recovered to an extent that he or she is no longer in need of hospitalization, or upon the expiration of the sentence of imprisonment.

E. Hospitalization of a Mentally Incompetent Person Due for Release: 18 U.S.C. § 4246

Title 18 of the United States Code, § 4246, provides for the commitment and hospitalization of an inmate who is scheduled for release but who is found to be suffering from a mental disease or defect, and his or her release would create a substantial risk of bodily injury to another person, or serious damage to the property of another. If the director of a medical facility certifies that the inmate meets the standards set forth in § 4246(a), the director will file such certificate with the clerk of court. The certificate must also certify that suitable arrangements for state custody and care are unavailable. A defendant found not competent and not restorable to stand trial under § 4241(d) is also subject to the provisions of § 4246 if he or she meets the criteria for commitment. Once the certificate to the inmate, to the attorney for the government, and, if the person was committed under § 4241(d), to the committing court. See 18 U.S.C. § 4246(a).

The court will order a hearing to determine whether there is clear and convincing evidence the person suffers from a mental disease or defect, such that his or her release would create a substantial risk of bodily injury or serious damage to property. If sufficient evidence exists, the court will commit the person to the custody of the Attorney General. <u>See</u> 18 U.S.C. § 4246(d).

The Attorney General will make continuous reasonable efforts to release the person to the appropriate official of the state in which the person is domiciled or was tried. If the state refuses to assume responsibility for the inmate's custody, care, and treatment, the Attorney General will hospitalize the individual for treatment in a suitable facility until the state assumes such responsibility or until the person's mental condition is such that his or her full release, or conditional release, would not pose a substantial risk of injury to other persons or damage to property. The director of the medical facility may initiate discharge proceedings in accordance with § 4246(e), or counsel for the inmate may seek discharge by filing a motion for a hearing.

Counsel's motion for an inmate seeking discharge may be filed only after 180 days from the date of a court determination that the person should continue to be committed. See 18 U.S.C. § 4247(h).

F. Civil Commitment of a Sexually Dangerous Person: 18 U.S.C. § 4248

The Walsh Act, starting at 42 U.S.C. § 16911 when initially enacted (now starting at 34 U.S.C. § 20911), provides for the civil commitment of sexually dangerous persons. Title 18 of the United States Code, § 4248, provides that the BOP may institute proceedings by certifying that a person is sexually dangerous. A sexually dangerous person (SDP) is defined in § 4247(a)(5) as one "who has engaged or attempted to engage in sexually violent conduct or child molestation and who is sexually dangerous to others." Defined in § 4247(a)(6), a person is considered sexually dangerous to others if he or she "suffers from a serious mental illness, abnormality, or disorder as a result of which he would have serious difficulty in refraining from sexually violent conduct or child molestation if released." The Walsh Act requires the BOP to determine if an inmate due for release is sexually dangerous, and to submit certification to the district court where the person is confined, to determine if civil commitment is necessary.

The BOP's Sex Offender Certification Review Branch (SOCRB) oversees the civil commitment process. SOCRB reviews the Case Management Assignments of all inmates prior to release, to ascertain whether there is any history of relevant conduct. For inmates with a record of attempted

or actual sexual violence or child molestation, an assessment is made of empirically based static and dynamic risk factors. Psychological and legal records are also examined. Consideration is given to a wide range of factors including criminal history, social and family support, mental and physical health, institution conduct, and other data. SOCRB's Certification Review Panel (CRP) is tasked with making the final certification determination. Should the CRP find that an individual is an SDP, certification may delay the inmate's release. A United States District Judge in the federal jurisdiction in which the inmate is held will conduct a hearing and determine the merits of the CRP finding. If the court concurs with the CRP determination, the inmate is placed in the custody of the Attorney General as a civil commitment. Efforts are then made to secure placement with the individual's state of residence. If those efforts are unsuccessful, the inmate will remain in the BOP as a resident in the Commitment and Treatment Program until such time as the court of commitment determines the individual to no longer be sexually dangerous.

G. Examination of an Inmate Eligible for Parole: 18 U.S.C. § 4205

This statute was repealed (along with others pertaining to parole) in 1987. However, inmates whose offenses were committed prior to November 1, 1987 ("old law"); D.C. Code inmates who committed their crimes before August 5, 2000; and military inmates transferred to BOP custody all may remain parole eligible. The statute requires the BOP to furnish to the United States Parole Commission an evaluation of an inmate's suitability for parole, including his or her mental and physical health, past criminal history, and social background.

H. Presentence Study, Psychological or Psychiatric Examination: 18 U.S.C. §§ 3552(b)–(c)

During the presentence investigative process, the court may order the defendant to undergo a psychological or psychiatric examination. The court will specify the additional information it requires before determining an appropriate sentence.

This evaluation may be completed by a community consultant "unless the sentencing judge finds that there is a compelling reason for the study to be done by the Bureau of Prisons …" See 18 U.S.C. § 3552(b). The statute allows for 60 days for the completion of the study, with an extension not to exceed 60 additional days. The format of the study report should generally follow the format used in the other statutes, specifically addressing the court's concerns.

IV. SENTENCING ISSUES

The United States Sentencing Commission (USSC) has published, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 991–98, the U.S. SENTENCING GUIDELINES MANUAL, to provide a general framework for sentencing. The following is a discussion of the most frequently used sanctions available in the federal criminal justice system. The most up to date version of the manual may be found at: <u>Guidelines | United States Sentencing Commission (ussc.gov)</u>.

A. Probation and Conditions of Probation

The federal sentencing court may impose a sentence of probation with conditions placed on the inmate. The United States Probation Office (USPO) monitors the inmate.

1. Community Confinement

As a condition of probation, a defendant may be sentenced to community confinement, defined as residence in "a community corrections facility." <u>See</u> 18 U.S.C. § 3563(b)(11). The BOP makes available to the courts federally contracted RRCs. An inmate subject to a term of community confinement as a condition of probation or supervised release is placed in the most restrictive component of the RRC and has limited access to the community.

RRCs are available for both male and female inmates. <u>See</u> Program Statement 7300.09, CN-3, <u>Community Corrections Manual</u>. The court may also place an inmates in an RRC in lieu of revocation of probation or supervised release for technical violations.

2. Intermittent Confinement

Weekend terms and other forms of intermittent confinement may be imposed as a special condition of probation or supervised release. See 18 U.S.C. § 3563(b)(10). However, a court may only impose an intermittent confinement term as a condition of supervised release for a violation of a previously imposed term of supervised release. Id. at § 3583(d). In these instances, the respective BOP Residential Reentry Management office may coordinate with the USPO for monitoring of the inmate at a non-BOP facility.

B. Home Detention

Federal sentencing guidelines (U.S.S.G. § 5C1.1(c)-(e)) allow home confinement (referred to as "home detention") as a substitute for imprisonment in certain instances. Title 18 of the United States Code, § 3624(c)(2), allows for pre-release custody of an inmate in home confinement. See infra V.L.4, <u>Home Confinement</u>. The Judgment in a Criminal Case (J&C) should specify time frames for such detention. Ordinarily, inmates on home detention are electronically monitored through services contracted by the Administrative Office of the United States Courts. The BOP is not involved in the post-release home detention program for probationers or supervised releasees.

C. Imprisonment

The BOP maintains safe and humane correctional environments for inmates sentenced to a term of imprisonment. The appropriate USPO provides the BOP with the Presentence Investigation Report (PSR), J&C, and Statement of Reasons (SOR) after sentencing. These documents are crucial to BOP decision-making to determine an inmate's facility designation, including appropriate security level, relevant programs, and subsequent pre-release preparation. The PSR and SOR contain sensitive information regarding an inmate's social contacts and criminal history; as such, designated inmates may not possess these documents. Inmates in pretrial detention may possess a draft PSR exclusively for the limited purpose of review in the brief period immediately following the presentence interview (PSI). Possession is not allowed once the PSI is finalized and

furnished to the court. Inmates may request to review these documents, maintained in the inmate Central File, by submitting a request for staff. See Program Statement 1351.05, CN-2, Release of Information.

1. Institutional Confinement

Title 18 of the United States Code, § 3621(a), authorizes the BOP to confine persons sentenced to a term of imprisonment. Institutions are classified by security level: Minimum, Low, Medium, High, and Administrative. Institution security levels are determined by various factors including type of perimeter security, number of towers or external patrols, detection devices, security of housing areas, type of living quarters, and level of staffing.

2. Service of Sentence in Non-Federal Facilities

An inmate may be transferred to a state facility should the individual present special management problems, require protection, or if his or her notoriety precludes incarceration in a BOP facility. <u>See Program Statement 5160.05</u>, <u>Designation of State Institution for Service of Federal Sentence</u>.

3. Juvenile Offenders

Federal adjudication of juveniles is governed by the <u>Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention</u> <u>Act</u> (JJDPA), codified at 18 U.S.C. §§ 5031–5042. <u>See</u> Program Statement 5216.06, <u>Juvenile</u> <u>Delinquents</u>. JJDPA addresses the adjudication of an offender who has not reached his or her 18th birthday, and generally prohibits housing juveniles with adult offenders. Given the very small number of federally sentenced juveniles, operation of a separate BOP facility for this population is not practical. Therefore, the BOP contracts for placement of these offenders in secure and nonsecure state and local facilities.

The JJDPA addresses three categories of offenders. Treatment of each group differs as follows:

Confinement of Persons Under Age 18

Offenders who have not attained the age of 18 at the time of commitment will be placed in a non-federal, contracted juvenile facility. See 18 U.S.C. § 5039. Generally, the BOP attempts to place such offenders in juvenile facilities located in or near their home communities.

Confinement of Persons 18 to 21 Years of Age

An offender who is sentenced as an adult, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 5032, shall be designated to an adult institution according to BOP designation criteria. An offender who is sentenced as a juvenile will be treated as a person under 18 years of age, unless he or she has a concurrent federal adult sentence of a length equal to or greater than the juvenile sentence. If there is such a concurrent federal sentence, the offender will be housed in an adult facility. The court imposing the juvenile sentence will be notified of this fact.

If an offender sentenced as a juvenile also has a consecutive adult sentence, he or she will be treated

as a person under the age of 18 until the expiration of the juvenile sentence, or in some instances, until he or she has reached the age of 21.

Persons Who Turn 21 While Serving a JJDPA Sentence

A person who had been adjudicated as delinquent may then be designated to a BOP institution as an adult, once he or she reaches the age of 21. A change in placement is not required, and the BOP may retain the juvenile offender in a contract juvenile facility for continuity of program participation.

D. Judgment in a Criminal Case

The BOP is charged with interpreting and administering the provisions of the J&C of the federal courts, as follows.

1. Judicial Recommendations for a Specific Institution, Geographic Area, or Specialized Program

The BOP has sole authority to designate the place of confinement for federal adults in custody. <u>See</u> 18 U.S.C. § 3621(b). By statute, the BOP is required to consider facility resources; the nature and circumstances of the offense; the history and characteristics of the prisoner; recommendations of the court; and guidance issued by the USSC. Initial designation decisions and decisions to transfer prisoners from one facility to another are ultimately the responsibility of the BOP and are made in accordance with Program Statement 5100.08, CN-2, <u>Inmate Security Designation and Custody Classification</u>. The J&C may indicate the sentencing court's recommendation to house the inmate in a specific institution, geographic area, or specialized program. While every effort is made to comply with the court's recommendation, conflict with BOP policy and sound correctional management may prevent honoring the court's recommendation.

Prior to finalizing plea agreements or other concessions affecting a defendant's conditions of confinement, the parties involved should consult with the relevant CLC office regarding factors that might affect availability of the program, or the eligibility of an individual defendant for any program assignment. Specific programs or institution placements should not be part of any agreement or promised to any criminal defendant. This is particularly important when defendants carry both state and federal sentences, as complex issues arise over which sovereign has priority to implement its sentence.

2. Sentence Calculation

The BOP's DSCC in Grand Prairie, Texas, oversees inmate designations and sentence computations. BOP policies and instructions to staff for the calculation of terms of imprisonment includes Program Statement 5880.28, <u>Sentence Computation Manual (CCCA of 1984)</u>; Program Statement 5880.30, <u>Sentence Computation Manual/Old Law/Pre CCCA 1984</u>; Program Statement 5880.33, <u>District of Columbia Sentence Computation Manual</u>; and Program Statement 5110.16,

Administration of Sentence for Military Inmates. Specific questions related to sentence calculation should be directed to the DSCC, telephone (972) 352-4400, e-mail at:

BOP-CPD-DSC-PolicyCorrespondence-S@BOP.gov.

An inmate challenging the calculation of a particular sentence does so by filing a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2241, in the U.S. District Court possessing personal jurisdiction over his or her immediate custodian (Warden). See Rumsfeld v. Padilla, 542 U.S. 426 (2004). Typically, district courts require inmates first to exhaust the administrative remedy process within the BOP prior to seeking judicial relief. See Program Statement 1330.18, Administrative Remedy Program. We request the court contact DSCC staff if questions arise as to how a J&C will be interpreted to avoid potential conflicts. Occasionally, a J&C may direct the defendant's term of imprisonment to be calculated in a manner contrary to law. The BOP will then notify the prosecuting Assistant U.S. Attorney and/or the court to resolve the conflict.

Commencement of a Term of Imprisonment

Title 18 of the United States Code, § 3585(a), dictates that "[a] sentence to a term of imprisonment commences on the date the defendant is received in custody awaiting transportation to, or arrives voluntarily to commence service of sentence at, the official detention facility at which the sentence is to be served." So, J&Cs directing a defendant's term of imprisonment to commence at a date earlier than its date of imposition, or some other date, are viewed by the BOP as contrary to statute.

Credit for Prior Custody

Title 18 of the United States Code, § 3585(b), dictates the method of calculating credit for prior custody of defendants whose offense was committed on or after November 1, 1987. Sentence credit is awarded for time spent in official detention prior to the date a term of imprisonment commences. Credit is only authorized if it was served as a result of the offense for which the sentence was imposed or as a result of any offense (state or federal) for which the defendant was arrested after committing the offense for which the federal sentence was imposed. Additionally, the time must not have been credited against any other sentence. Slightly different rules apply for defendants whose date of offense is prior to November 1, 1987. See 18 U.S.C. § 3568 (repealed).

After a defendant is sentenced, the BOP is responsible for determining what period(s) of prior custody may be credited toward the federal term of imprisonment. <u>See United States v. Wilson</u>, 503 U.S. 329 (1992). Periods spent on pretrial release, no matter how restrictive, cannot be awarded as prior custody credit to U.S. Code inmates. <u>See Reno v. Koray</u>, 515 U.S. 50 (1995). D.C. Code felony inmates, however, may be entitled to such credit. <u>See Program Statement 5880.33</u>, <u>District of Columbia Sentence Computation Manual</u>.</u>

Consequently, J&Cs must be carefully drafted to avoid requiring prior custody credit awards in circumstances which are contrary to statute. When a sentence being imposed has been adjusted to account for time already served on an undischarged sentence, the court should note on the J&C the amount of time by which the sentence is being adjusted, the undischarged term of imprisonment for which the adjustment is being given, and that the sentence imposed is a sentence reduction

pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 5G1.3(b), for a period of imprisonment that will not be credited by the BOP. See U.S.S.G. § 5G1.3, Imposition of a Sentence on a Defendant Subject to an Undischarged Term of Imprisonment or Anticipated State Term of Imprisonment, App. Note 2(C), Imposition of Sentence. Similarly, when a court applies a downward departure at sentencing pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 5K2.23 to account for time served on a term already discharged, the J&C should include a note indicating so. Otherwise, it may appear that prior custody credit is being awarded contrary to 18 U.S.C. § 3585(b) and the Supreme Court's holding in Wilson.

Credit for Satisfactory Behavior ("Good Conduct Time")

Title 18 of the United States Code, § 3624(b), provides Good Conduct Time (GCT) credit for U.S. Code inmates whose offense was committed on or after November 1, 1987, and D.C. Code felony inmates whose offense was committed on or after August 5, 2000. The First Step Act of 2018 (FSA), Pub. L. No. 115-391, § 102(b)(1), 132 Stat. 5210 (2018) amended 18 U.S.C. § 3624(b)(1) to clarify the method of counting GCT credit.

Pursuant to this amendment, GCT credit is available for certain eligible inmates. <u>See</u> 18 U.S.C. § 3624(b)(1). For an inmate to be eligible for GCT credit, the inmate must be serving a term of imprisonment exceeding one year, but less than a life sentence.

Eligible inmates may receive up to 54 days sentence credit for each year of the inmate's sentence imposed by the court. Inmates sanctioned for violating prison disciplinary rules may lose all or part of these credits. See Program Statement 5270.09, CN-1, Inmate Discipline Program. In determining whether an inmate shall receive the credit, the BOP shall consider whether an inmate, during the relevant period, has earned, or is making satisfactory progress toward earning, a high school diploma or an equivalent degree. GCT credit and FSA credits may both be used to reduce an inmate's sentence. See infra V.L.5, First Step Act Time Credits.

Sentence credit for satisfactory behavior by U.S. Code inmates whose offense was committed prior to November 1, 1987, is governed by Title 18 U.S.C. §§ 4161–4166 (repealed). These inmates may be eligible to accrue both Statutory Good Time (§ 4161) and Extra Good Time (§ 4162). Statutory Good Time may be forfeited in whole or in part if the prisoner violates institution rules or commits any offense. See 18 U.S.C. § 4165.

Specific questions related to good conduct time credit should be directed to the DSCC, telephone (972) 352-4400; e-mail at <u>BOP-CPD-DSC-PolicyCorrespondence-S@BOP.gov.</u>

Fines and Costs of Confinement

Pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 5E1.2, <u>Fines for Individual Defendants</u>, a court shall impose a fine in all cases, unless the defendant lacks the necessary financial resources to make payments. For offenses committed on or after November 1, 1987, the court cannot require that a fine imposed be paid as a precondition for release. This is a change from prior law, which permitted the court to order the defendant to remain in prison until the fine is paid, unless and until a determination was made that the defendant was indigent or otherwise unable to pay the fine. <u>See</u> Program Statement 5882.03, <u>Fines and Costs for [Old Law] Inmates</u>. The Court Security Improvement Act of 2007, Pub. L.

No. 110-117, amended 18 U.S.C. § 3624(e) by striking the provision that prohibited releasing an inmate to supervised release unless the inmate agreed to adhere to an installment schedule to pay for any court-ordered fine imposed for the current offense. The statute only requires the BOP notify the inmate of the requirement to adhere to the court-ordered payment schedule upon release.

The Application Notes to the Sentencing Guidelines refer the court to the BOP and the Administrative Office of the U.S. Courts for assistance in determining an appropriate fine to cover the costs of confinement. Should the court wish, the BOP will furnish the court with the average cost of confinement at all facilities, as an inmate may be held in several different facilities during a single term of imprisonment. For prisoners for whom the court did not assess a fine to cover the costs of incarceration, and for whom the court did not waive the fine due to indigence, the BOP is authorized to collect a fee equal to the cost of one year of imprisonment, or a prorated amount, if the defendant is sentenced to a shorter term. See Program Statement 5380.06, Cost of Incarceration Fee (COIF). The yearly average cost of incarceration for a federal inmate in a BOP facility for Fiscal Year 2022 was \$42,672.00; in an RRC, that cost was \$39,197.00.

The BOP is authorized to require inmates, who have been transferred to RRCs, to pay a portion or all of the costs of their confinement. See 18 U.S.C. § 3622(c)(2). Funds collected are not returned to the BOP, but rather are paid to the U.S. Treasury.

Inmate Financial Responsibility Program

To assist in the collection of court-ordered financial obligations, the BOP operates the inmate Financial Responsibility Program (IFRP) in conjunction with the Administrative Office of the U.S. Courts. See Program Statement 5380.08, Financial Responsibility Program, Inmate. All inmates with financial obligations—including special assessments, restitution, fines and court costs, state or local court obligations, and other federal obligations—are encouraged to work with staff to develop an individual financial plan.

Participation in IFRP, while not compulsory, is tied to eligibility for prison privileges including preferred housing, job assignments, and community activities, such as community confinement and furloughs. Participation is also tied to institutional programming and custody level changes. If eligible for parole, the inmate's progress in meeting his or her financial plan is a factor considered at the parole hearing. Inmates are responsible for making all payments from funds in their inmate accounts, including funds from outside resources and pay from work in the institution, or a combination of the two.

All sentenced inmates are required to work in an institutional job assignment or UNICOR work assignment with the exception of those who are unable to work for security, educational, or medical reasons. See Program Statement 5251.06, Inmate Work and Performance Pay. Inmates may also earn bonus pay for outstanding work performance. An inmate with a court-ordered financial obligation is given preference for assignment to UNICOR, and such an assignment requires that 50% of the inmate's earnings are applied to payment of that obligation.

The sentencing court can require inmates to pay fines and special assessments as part of the judgment. If the court orders that these financial obligations are "due immediately," or if the J&C

is silent as to when they are due, then the BOP will collect those fines and special assessments through the IFRP. In the latter case, 18 U.S.C. § 3572(d) requires "immediate" payment.

If the sentencing court orders a defendant to pay restitution under the Mandatory Victim Restitution Act of 2006 (MVRA), Pub. L. 113-65, codified at 18 U.S.C. § 3663A, as part of the judgment, most circuits have also held that the court must also set out a schedule of payments for that restitution. One circuit has held that the BOP may not use the IFRP to collect payments toward an MVRA restitution order unless the order also includes such a schedule. *Ward v. Chavez*, 678 F.3d 1042, 1051 (9th Cir. 2012). As a result, if the sentencing court intends that the defendant make payments toward restitution while imprisoned, then the J&C should contain specific language, such as "while serving the sentence of imprisonment, the defendant must make payments toward the restitution obligation at the rate of no less than \$25.00 per quarter."

Regardless of the type of financial obligation ordered in the J&C, the court should avoid ambiguous language such as "payments as directed by BOP." Such statements are ordinarily construed as an improper delegation of judicial authority and could result in the exclusion of the restitution award from the amounts collected by the BOP under the IFRP. The J&C should either specify that the financial obligation is "due immediately," or the J&C should remain silent as to when due. Wording such as "payments to be made as directed by BOP staff" or "payments to be made in installments as set by the IFRP" is ambiguous and may result in the defendant's nonparticipation in the IFRP. CLC attorneys should be consulted to craft language in the J&C to reflect the court's intention.

V. POST-CONVICTION ISSUES

A. Designation to a Facility for Service of a Term of Imprisonment

1. Security Designation and Custody Classification

Upon imposition of a sentence of imprisonment, the BOP begins the process of designating the defendant to a facility for service of the sentence. Title 18 U.S.C. § 3621(b) authorizes the BOP to designate where a prisoner will serve his or her sentence. The BOP retains exclusive discretion to assign or to transfer any prisoner to any facility. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 524.10–.11; Program Statement 5100.08, CN-2, Inmate Security Designation and Custody Classification.

The DSCC is responsible for initial custody classification, designation, assignment of BOP management variables and public safety factors, and all sentence calculation. The DSCC is not, however, responsible for assignment to, or transfer of, inmates from their designated institution to an RRC for 18 U.S.C. § 3624(c) pre-release purposes. Subsequent to the Inmate's designation to an institution, institution staff are responsible for the security and custody classification of the inmate. The DSCC first receives notification of a newly sentenced federal inmate from the U.S. Marshal in the sentencing district. If the court does not direct the defendant to self-surrender, the USMS will arrange for transportation of the inmate to the designated institution. <u>See</u> Program Statement 5100.08, CN-2, <u>Inmate Security Designation and Custody Classification</u>.

Designation decisions account for a number of factors including the level of security and staff supervision the inmate requires, and the level of security and staff supervision the institution provides. Other considerations include matching the medical care needs of an inmate with the level of care provided by the institution, as well as the inmate's program needs (e.g., substance abuse treatment, education, and vocational training, individual and/or group counseling, medical/mental health treatment). Various administrative factors will affect the designation, including institution bedspace capacity, proximity to the inmate's release residence, judicial recommendations, separation needs, and security measures required to ensure the safety of victims, witnesses, and the general public. Inmates are designated as close as practicable to their primary residence, and to the extent practicable, in a facility within 500 driving miles of that residence.

2. DNA Collection

In accordance with 34 U.S.C. § 40701; 28 C.F.R. §§ 28.11–.13; and Program Statement 5311.01, <u>Inmate DNA Sample Collection Procedures</u>, the BOP collects DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) samples from all federal inmates, usually obtained through collection kits. DNA samples collected from individuals or derived from crime scene evidence are analyzed to produce DNA profiles that are entered in the FBI Combined DNA Index System. DNA profiles assist in identifying inmates; excluding innocent persons; solving past and future crimes; and combating recidivism through inclusion in the database. Inmates who refuse to provide a DNA sample are counseled regarding their lawful obligation and the consequences of non-compliance, which may include progressive administrative sanctions and criminal prosecution.

3. Transportation to a Designated Institution

After an initial designation has been made, an inmate may be transported to the assigned facility by the USMS or BOP, either by vehicle or contract carrier airline. The USMS also operates a fleet of aircraft in conjunction with the Justice Prisoner and Alien Transportation System. BOP ground transportation and support, also, provide for economical and expeditious movement of inmates.

On occasion, the court may order a defendant to voluntarily surrender at the facility to which he or she is initially designated. The BOP draws a positive inference from the court's determination that the defendant is sufficiently trustworthy to surrender voluntarily, and self-surrender will favorably impact the inmate in terms of classification and designation decisions.

4. Interstate Agreement on Detainers

Many prisoners in BOP custody have detainers for unresolved criminal charges pending against them in one or more jurisdictions. To facilitate treatment and rehabilitation programming and to resolve pending matters, BOP joins with many states as a party to the Interstate Agreement on Detainers. See Program Statement 5800.15, CN-1, Correctional Systems Manual. This agreement enables a jurisdiction carrying an untried criminal indictment, information, or complaint, to secure temporary custody of the inmate. Such proceedings may be initiated by the state or by the inmate. Program Statement 5800.15, CN-1, delineates the appropriate procedures for a jurisdiction to obtain custody of an inmate with a detainer lodged by a member state. See Program Statement

5875.13, Transfer of Inmates to State Agents for Production on State Writs.

5. Central Inmate Monitoring System

The BOP monitors and controls the transfer, temporary release on writ, and community activities of certain inmates who present special management needs or security concerns. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 524.70–.76; Program Statement 5180.05, Central Inmate Monitoring System. Central Inmate Monitoring (CIM) inmates require a higher level of review which may include Central Office and/or Regional Office clearance for transfers, temporary releases, or community activities. Monitoring does not preclude a CIM inmate from such activities when the inmate is otherwise eligible, but contributes to the safe and orderly operation of federal institutions and the protection of the public.

Special measures are taken to protect at-risk inmates. CIM inmates may include, among others, persons whose incarceration generates public notoriety; individuals who have cooperated with law enforcement authorities; Inmates who have made threats against government officials; and inmates identified as gang members. While in custody, an inmate may require separation from other inmates stemming from such events that either preceded confinement or occurred during incarceration. So, procedures, such as separation assignments, have been developed to ensure the safety of these individuals. If necessary, such classification may continue throughout the period of incarceration.

6. Communication Management Units

The BOP operates two Communication Management Units (CMUs), located at FCI Terre Haute, Indiana, and at USP Marion, Illinois. CMUs were established in 2006 and 2008, respectively, to house inmates who, due to their current offense of conviction, offense conduct, activity while incarcerated, or other verified information, require increased monitoring of communications between the inmate and persons in the community to protect the safety, security, and orderly operation of the BOP or to protect the public. Inmates designated to the CMU may have been convicted of a terrorism-related offense, associated with a terrorist organization, repeatedly attempted to contact their victim(s), attempted illegal activities through approved communication methods, or received multiple incident reports due to misuse of such communication methods.

The CMU is a general population unit, with access to customary inmate activities, such as recreation, religious services, and education programming. All communications, however, are subject to increased monitoring. For example, all incoming general correspondence is reviewed by staff prior to delivery to the inmate, and all outgoing general correspondence is reviewed by staff prior to mailing via the U.S. Postal Service. In addition, telephone communication and social visits are limited, are live monitored by staff, and must occur only in English, unless conducted through simultaneous translation monitoring. Further information about CMUs can be found in Program Statement 5214.02, <u>Communications Management Units</u>.

As of May 2024, the BOP awarded a contract to build a CMU at FCI Cumberland, Maryland. Upon completion, the Cumberland CMU is anticipated to be the only BOP CMU.

7. Special Management Units

This initiative, as detailed in Program Statement 5217.02, Special Management Units, was implemented to enhance the agency's ability to manage some of the most disruptive and problematic inmates in the BOP. The Special Management Units (SMUs) provide a controlled environment for inmates whose interaction requires greater management to ensure the safety, security, or orderly operation of Bureau facilities, or protection of the public. Inmates with a history of serious or disruptive disciplinary infractions, disruptive group/gang activity, participation or organization in group misconduct, or conduct which disrupts safety, security, or orderly operations may be referred to a SMU. SMU designation is non-punitive and, while SMU conditions of confinement are more restrictive than are those for general population inmates, a SMU inmate may earn increased privileges by progressing through the three-level SMU program. Upon completion of the three-level program and abstaining from gang-related activity, serious or disruptive disciplinary infractions, or group misconduct for at least nine months, the inmate is eligible for redesignation to the general population. The total allowed designation time is 24 consecutive months.

As of May 2024, the program is suspended pending an executive decision on the SMU program's future, and no inmates are housed in a SMU.

B. Admission and Orientation Program for Inmates

Every inmate designated to a BOP institution is required to participate in the Admission and Orientation (A&O) program. See Program Statement 5290.14, Admission and Orientation Program. Staff presentations provide each inmate with information and written materials describing institution operations, program availability, inmate rights and responsibilities, and the BOP inmate discipline process. Each inmate receives an introduction to all aspects of the institution and meets with staff from the case management, medical, and mental health units.

C. Special Housing, Programs, and General Services

The BOP offers various resources to manage the needs of inmates while in custody, as well as to provide support upon release.

1. Special Housing Units

The BOP uses separate, alternative housing, known as Special Housing Units (SHUs), to help ensure the safety, security, and orderly operation of correctional facilities and to protect the public. See 28 C.F.R. § 541.21; Program Statement 5270.12, CN-1, Special Housing Units. The BOP mandates the living conditions of the SHU meet or exceed standards for healthy and humane treatment. See 28 C.F.R. § 541.31.

Inmates in SHU are classified as either in administrative detention status or in disciplinary segregation status. See 28 C.F.R. § 541.22. Administrative detention status is non-punitive and implemented for a variety of reasons; ultimately, the goal of which is to ensure the safety, security, and orderly operation of facilities and to protect the public. See 28 C.F.R. § 541.22(a). The BOP may place an inmate in administrative detention status for classification purposes, while the inmate

is on holdover status, or to remove an inmate from the general population out of concern for the threat to life property, self, staff, other inmates, the public, or the institution. <u>See</u> 28 C.F.R. §§ 541.23(a)–(c). Alternatively, disciplinary segregation status is punitive and is imposed only by the Discipline Hearing Officer (DHO), as a sanction for committing a prohibited act. 28 C.F.R. § 541.22(b); <u>see infra</u> section V.E, <u>Inmate Discipline Program</u> (describing the Inmate Discipline Program and the role of the DHO). Inmates placed in SHU will receive notice of the reasons for placement unless placement is for classification or holdover. <u>See</u> 28 C.F.R. § 541.25.

An inmate's placement in SHU will be reviewed at various intervals by the BOP; depending on the justification for placement, the BOP will also investigate the cause for placement and conduct a hearing. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 541.26, .28. Inmates may submit a formal grievance, challenging SHU placement, in accordance with the Administrative Remedy Program. See infra V.G, Administrative Remedy Program.

2. Education and Recreation Programs

The BOP is committed to providing inmates with opportunities to gain skills needed for successful reentry to the community. Program Statement 5300.21, <u>Education, Training, and Leisure Time</u> <u>Program Standards</u>, requires each institution to maintain an Education Department responsible for providing inmates with literacy classes and other related educational programs. Every institution provides both leisure and law library services. <u>See</u> Program Statement 1542.06, <u>Library Services</u>, <u>Inmate</u>; Program Statement 1315.07, CN-1, <u>Legal Activities</u>, <u>Inmate</u>.

Title 18 of the United States Code, § 3624(f), mandates an education program for those federal prisoners who are not functionally literate. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3624(f)(4), non-English-speaking inmates are required to participate in an English-as-a-Second Language program until able to function in the English language at the eighth-grade level. With few exceptions, inmates lacking either a high school diploma, or a state approved high school equivalency certificate, are required to enroll in an adult literacy program for a minimum of 240 hours. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 544.70–.75. Should an inmate prematurely end his or her participation prior to program completion, the inmate will lose some Good Conduct Time if governed by that statutory provision. Upon completion of the 240-hour course, an inmate may choose to end participation in adult literacy classes. However, to encourage the inmate to participate in such programs until earning the General Education Diploma (GED), incentive awards are available. No disciplinary action will be taken if the inmate chooses not to participate after completing the 240 hours.

Section 20412 of the Violent Crime Control and Law Enforcement Act of 1994 (VCCLEA), Pub. L. No. 103-322, enacted on September 13, 1994, implemented 18 U.S.C. § 3624(b)(4), which mandates that an inmate with a date of offense on or after September 13, 1994, but before April 26, 1996, lacking a high school diploma or GED credential, *must* participate and make satisfactory progress in the literacy program in order to vest earned Good Conduct Time. The Prison Litigation Reform Act of 1995, (PLRA), Pub. L. No. 104-134, enacted April 26, 1996, modifies 18 U.S.C. § 3624(b)(1), providing that in determining Good Conduct Time awards, the *BOP* shall *consider* whether an inmate with a date of offense on or after April 26, 1996, who lacks a high school diploma or GED, participates in and makes satisfactory progress in the literacy program, in order to be eligible to earn the maximum amount of Good Conduct Time. The PLRA removes the 18

U.S.C. § 3624(b)(4) requirement and replaces it with a statement authorizing the BOP to exempt the GED requirement when appropriate. A foreign national who is subject to a final confirmed order of removal, deportation, or exclusion, is exempt from the satisfactory progress requirement of the literacy program provisions of VCCLEA and PLRA. See 28 C.F.R. § 523.20.

BOP programming emphasizes reentry skills, offering a variety of programs for self-improvement, including occupational training, resume writing, job fairs, and parenting skills. Recreation programs encourage inmates to make constructive use of leisure time, with both group and individual activities. Physical fitness and wellness programs, such as nutrition and weight control, are provided during non-working hours to promote positive lifestyle changes. <u>See</u> 28 C.F.R. §§ 544.30–.35; 28 C.F.R. §§ 553.10–.15.; Program Statement 5370.11, <u>Recreation Programs, Inmate</u>. Hobbycraft programs vary from institution to institution, and may include painting, leathercrafts, artwork, and ceramics. Completed projects are mailed home, as inmates are not permitted to retain completed projects in their possession.

3. Religious Programs

Under 28 C.F.R. § 548 and Program Statement 5360.10, <u>Religious Beliefs and Practices</u>, the BOP affords inmates with equitable opportunities to observe their religious practices in the areas of religious diet, ceremonial clothing, religious property, group worship, among others, within security and budgetary constraints. Each institution is assigned Chaplaincy staff, who both minister to the inmate population, and arrange for contract religious clergy and volunteers from the community to assist in group worship, individual religious counseling, spiritual guidance, and the study of sacred writings.

4. Food Service

BOP offers nutritionally balanced meals. Program Statement 4700.07, <u>Food Service Manual</u>, provides that medical diets be available to inmates who require such accommodations. All inmates, except those on medical or religious diets, are served the same meals in a dining room setting when consistent with the security and orderly operation of the institution. Staff dining rooms serve the same meals offered to inmates. In addition, inmates with religious dietary requirements may apply for the religious diet program, designed to address the dietary restrictions of a variety of different faith groups. Meatless food options are offered as a component of the religious diet program. <u>See Program Statement 5360.10, Religious Beliefs and Practices</u>.

The BOP follows a standardized menu. The National Menu is designed not only to bring consistency to BOP Food Service operations, but also to ensure Heart Healthy options are available to increase the ability to prevent and manage chronic health issues of our inmate population. Heart Healthy options, with lower fat and sodium levels, are available and the Warden at any institution may choose to serve only the Heart Healthy food options at select meals. High security institutions may modify the National Menu to address security concerns.

5. Work Programs and UNICOR

All federal inmates are required to work with the exception of those unable to do so, due to reasons related to security, education, or medical necessity. <u>See</u> 28 C.F.R. §§ 545.20–.31; Program Statement 5251.06, <u>Inmate Work and Performance Pay</u>. An institution workday is ordinarily seven hours. Most inmates are assigned to an institution job such as food service worker, orderly, plumber, painter, warehouse worker, or groundskeeper, earning 12 cents to 40 cents per hour. inmates may apply for an assignment to Federal Prison Industries (FPI). FPI, operating under the trade name UNICOR, employs over 10,000 inmates. In accordance with statutory mandates, UNICOR (1) provides employment and industrial skills training to as many inmates as possible; (2) produces market-priced, quality goods for federal government customers; (3) operates in a self-sustaining manner; and (4) minimizes its impact on private business and labor. <u>See</u> 18 U.S.C. § 4122. UNICOR job wages currently range from \$0.23 cents to \$1.15 per hour. Inmates may also earn bonus pay for outstanding work performance. <u>See</u> Program Statement 8120.03, <u>Work Programs for Inmates, FPI</u>; Program Statement 8000.01, <u>UNICOR Corporate Policy and Procedures</u>, CN-1–55.

UNICOR is a wholly owned federal government corporation and does not receive Congressional appropriations for its operations. <u>See</u> 18 U.S.C. § 4122(b)(1); Program Statement 8000.01, <u>UNICOR Corporate Policy and Procedures</u>, CN-1–55; Program Statement 8120.03, <u>Work Programs for Inmates, FPI</u>. Title 18 of the United States Code, § 4124, when read with 10 U.S.C. § 2410n and section 637 the Consolidated Spending Bill for FY 2005 (Division H), Pub. L. No. 108-447, requires federal departments, agencies, and government institutions to purchase products on UNICOR's schedule of products from UNICOR, when comparable to products offered by private vendors in terms of price, quality, and delivery time. If not comparable, then the federal purchaser may procure the product through competitive solicitation, provided UNICOR is given an opportunity to compete. UNICOR also provides a variety of services.

6. Inmate Accident Compensation

Inmates are not federal employees and are not subject to the Fair Labor Standards Act or other federal employee compensation laws. If an inmate is injured while performing an assigned duty, he or she must immediately report the injury to the work supervisor. The work supervisor will secure medical treatment for the inmate and file an injury report with the institution safety manager. See Program Statement 1600.14, National Occupational Safety and Health Policy.

Pursuant to title 18 of the United States Code, § 4126, and 28 C.F.R. pt. 301, inmates may be compensated for injuries caused by the actual performance of their work assignments in UNICOR or in other institution work assignments. The Inmate Accident Compensation Program is the exclusive remedy available to inmates who sustain work-related injuries and is the exclusive remedy for subsequent medical care of work-related injuries. Inmates may not recover damages in tort for work-related injuries. See 28 U.S.C. §§ 2671–80 (tort claims procedure); United States v. Demko, 385 U.S. 149 (1966).

Lost-Time Wage Program

Inmates injured in the course of performing their work assignments, and who are medically excused for at least three consecutively scheduled workdays, may receive lost-time wages equal to 75% of the standard hourly rate for their regular work assignments. Pursuant to 28 C.F.R. §§ 301.201–.205, an Institution Safety Committee oversees the Lost-Time Wage Program. A lost-time wage payment continues until the inmate is released, transferred to another institution (for reasons unrelated to the injury), returns to the work assignment, or refuses to return to work. An inmate dissatisfied with any decision regarding lost-time wages may appeal the decision pursuant to the Program Statement 1330.18, <u>Administrative Remedy Program</u>.

Compensation for Work-Related Physical Impairment or Death

No more than 45 days prior to the date of an inmate's release, but no less than 15 days prior to this date, an inmate who feels that a residual physical impairment exists as a result of a prison work-related injury may apply for compensation. Should circumstances not permit such a submission, a claim may be accepted up to 60 days following release or up to one year after release, for good cause shown. This program is administered from the Central Office, and any questions may be directed to the Claims Examiner, inmate Accident Compensation Program Coordinator. A claim for compensation as the result of a work-related death may be filed by a dependent of the deceased inmate up to one year after the inmate's work-related death. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 301.301–.319.

7. Female Inmates

Inmates are housed separate from the alternative sex. At various sites, female inmate units are co-located with male units. However, all housing units and activities are separate. Appropriate programs and services are provided to meet the physical, social, and psychological needs of female inmates. Programming is in parity with that offered to male inmates, tailored specifically to the female sex. See Program Statement 5200.09, Female Offender Manual.

The designation and classification system for female inmates acknowledges empirical evidence that female inmates are less likely to be violent or attempt escape. Bedspace for female inmates is available at varied security levels.

Birth Control and Pregnancy

The BOP provides inmates with medical and social services related to pregnancy, birth control, child placement, and abortion. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 551.20–.24; Program Statement 5200.09, Female Offender Manual. Each inmate assigned female at birth is medically screened for pregnancy upon admission and is instructed to inform medical staff if they suspect they may be pregnant, so that pre-natal care may be immediately provided. Childbirth typically takes place at a community hospital. Staff assist the inmate, with the assistance of a liaison, and work closely with community agencies to affect an appropriate arrangement.

The BOP offers two community residential programs for pregnant inmates, Mothers and Infants Together (MINT) and Residential Parenting Program (RPP). The MINT program, managed by private social service agencies under contract to the BOP, is a residential program promoting

bonding skills for pregnant inmates. It is at the discretion of the inmate's Unit Team to decide whether to refer the inmate to MINT. A MINT inmate participant may remain at the residential program for a five-month period, beginning two months prior to delivery and ending three months after delivery, to provide an opportunity to bond with her newborn child before returning to an institution to complete their sentence. Prior to the birth, the mother must make arrangements for an appropriate custodian for the child. An inmate is eligible to enter the program if they satisfy the general criteria for furlough eligibility and is in their final two months of pregnancy. See Program Statement 5280.09, Inmate Furloughs. Designation to the MINT program is in accordance with Program Statement 7310.04, Community Corrections Center (CCC) Utilization and Transfer Procedures.

RPP is a voluntary program that allows pregnant inmates to reside with their child for up to 30 months post-delivery. Eligible inmates, upon acceptance, are placed in the RPP at the Washington Correctional Center for Females in Gig Harbor but remain in BOP custody. Once there, the inmate is responsible for caring for the child, while living in a supervised environment. This program offers services to the inmate, including mental health and medical care, vocational training, etc.

The primary goals of the RPP are to provide a safe residential setting allowing infants and their incarcerated mothers to remain united; ensure a secure, healthy attachment is formed between mother and child; maximize an infant's healthy growth and child development; educate mothers in skills to effectively parent; and work toward self-sufficiency.

Upon arrival at the RPP expecting mothers are provided an orientation that includes a tour of the facility, an overview of the health care clinic and social service assistance, a history of the program and program rules.

Participants work with facility staff to develop a case plan to address programming needs and requirements. Mothers are required to be involved in prenatal and postpartum programs, such as parenting skills, child development, self-care and self-esteem, positive discipline, nutrition, and family life skills. They are also expected to structure their commitments to accommodate the needs of their children, utilize the child development center and approved inmate caregivers. Mothers must also participate in educational components teaching positive and effective life and parenting skills.

Abortion

In accordance with 28 C.F.R. § 551.23 and Program Statement 5200.09, <u>Female Offender Manual</u>, an inmate retains the responsibility to decide either to have an abortion or carry the pregnancy to term. The Warden must offer each pregnant inmate with medical, religious, and social counseling to aid her in making the decision whether to carry the pregnancy to term or to have an elective abortion. The BOP will assume all costs associated with the abortion procedure only when the life of the mother would be endangered if the fetus is carried to term, or in the case of rape or incest. In all other cases, non-BOP funds must be obtained to pay for any abortion procedure.

8. Substance Abuse Treatment

Drug abuse education and substance abuse treatment is available in each institution. <u>See</u> Program Statement 5330.11, CN-1, <u>Psychology Treatment Programs</u>. Inmates identified with a history of drug use, a judicial recommendation for treatment, a violation of supervision related to drug use, or an instant offense related to drug use, are required to take the BOP's drug abuse education course. Inmates who are found to have a drug use problem are also referred for nonresidential and residential drug abuse treatment.

In early 2023, the BOP had 76 residential drug abuse programs (RDAPs) at 70 locations, including two for Spanish-speaking male inmates, and one for Spanish-speaking female inmates, to address the needs of inmates with a diagnosis of substance abuse or dependence based on the American Psychiatric Association's *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*.

Dual Diagnosis RDAP programs have been developed to address the needs of inmates with a coexisting substance abuse and mental health diagnosis. Successful completion of RDAP requires the participant to receive no less than 120 days of community-based treatment by licensed providers during his or her residence in an RRC or on home detention. RDAP participation includes a program incentive of sentence reduction (up to one year) for an eligible inmate in accordance with VCCLEA, 18 U.S.C. § 3621(e)(2). To receive the program incentive, the inmate must successfully complete RDAP and must also satisfy the eligibility requirements provided in 28 C.F.R. §§ 550.50–.57, and Program Statement 5331.02, CN-2, <u>Early Release Procedures under 18</u> <u>U.S.C. § 3621(e)</u>. In all cases, however, the award of sentence reduction is at the discretion of the BOP.

The BOP's drug abuse treatment strategy parallels community drug abuse treatment regimens differentiating between residential treatment and out-patient treatment (non-residential treatment). This approach allows the BOP to provide the appropriate intensity of treatment for the needs of inmates with a history of substance abuse.

9. Urine Surveillance Program

Illegal drug use compromises institutional security and threatens inmate and staff safety; the BOP maintains careful oversight to detect and deter inmate drug use. <u>See</u> Program Statement 6060.08, <u>Urine Surveillance and Narcotic Identification</u>. Urine screening is an effective tool in detecting drug use in the institution. Inmates involved in community activities are routinely tested for the use of illegal drugs, and any inmate may be tested based on individual suspicion of drug use. In addition, a random sample of the total inmate population at each institution is tested monthly. Any inmate testing positive for unauthorized substances, or who refuses to submit to a test, is subject to sanction, including the loss of early release earned through successful RDAP completion.

Any visitor or staff member found to be introducing illegal drugs or other contraband into an institution is immediately subject to arrest. <u>See</u> 18 U.S.C. § 1791; 28 C.F.R. §§ 511.10–.18; Program Statement 5510.15, <u>Searching</u>, <u>Detaining</u>, or <u>Arresting Visitors to Bureau Grounds and Facilities</u>. By entering or attempting to enter BOP grounds or facilities, the individual has consented to search of his person and his belongings. A visitor who refuses to comply with

authorized search procedures will be denied entry or be required to leave.

10. Medical Services

Medical Services Available to Sentenced Inmates

Every institution maintains a Health Services Unit to provide medical, dental, and mental health care. BOP policy regarding medical care and procedures for caring for inmates with medical needs is set forth in 28 C.F.R. § 549 and Program Statement 6031.05, <u>Patient Care</u>. Service is provided by a variety of health care professionals, including psychiatrists, physicians, nurses, advanced practice providers (nurse practitioners and physician assistants), dieticians, dentists, and pharmacists. BOP health care staff is augmented by assigned United States Public Health Service personnel. Community medical professionals are consulted as needed, and inmates are sent to community hospitals should medically necessary care be unavailable at the institution. <u>See</u> Program Statement 6010.05, <u>Health Services Administration</u>.

In determining the appropriate institution in which to house an inmate, the BOP carefully considers the inmate's health status. As the BOP provides extensive medical services, a defendant's medical condition generally will not preclude a sentence to BOP custody. When serious health concerns affect a designation decision, the DSCC will refer the case to the BOP's OMDT. A specific institution is designated with attention to the urgency of medical need; institution capability; bed space availability; and security concerns. BOP facilities are classified by "Care Level" based on the local BOP health care workforce and range of available community-based services.

Each inmate is assigned a medical "Care Level," based on his or her medical history as described in the Presentence Report and other available information. The BOP's goal in implementing the Care Level system is to assign inmates with greater medical needs to those facilities with more comprehensive on-site medical resources and to provide more effective and efficient access to community-based health care for each inmate.

Inmates with Care Level 1 needs are generally healthy, under 70 years of age, and may have limited medical needs requiring clinician evaluation and monitoring. Examples of such conditions are mild asthma, diet-controlled diabetes, and patients with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) who are stable and do not require medications.

Inmates with Care Level 2 needs are those who are stable outpatients, requiring at least quarterly clinician evaluation. Examples of such conditions include medication-controlled diabetes, epilepsy, and emphysema.

Inmates with Care Level 3 needs are fragile outpatients who require frequent clinical contacts, and/or who may require some assistance with activities of daily living, but do not require daily nursing supervision. This Care Level may include stabilization of medical or mental health conditions that may require periodic hospitalization. Other examples of this Care Level are patients with cancer in remission less than a year, advanced HIV disease, severe mental illness in remission on medication, severe congestive heart failure, and end-stage liver disease.

Inmates with Care Level 4 needs are severely impaired and may require daily nursing care. Examples of such conditions are those with cancer in active treatment, dialysis, quadriplegia, stroke or head injury patients, major surgical patients, acute psychiatric illness requiring inpatient treatment, and high-risk pregnancy.

The DSCC designates those inmates with Care Levels 1 and 2. For those inmates with Care Levels 3 and 4, the designation decision will be made by the OMDT, as the medical need of the inmate is the primary factor in the designation decision.

Federal Medical Centers

Medical, dental, and mental health services at each institution are provided according to the Care Level. Seven FMCs provide specialized health services:

FMC Butner, North Carolina

Located north of Raleigh, FMC Butner is part of the FCC and serves as a major medical and psychiatric referral center for male inmates. FMC Butner has all specialty areas of medicine and is the primary referral center for oncology, providing chemotherapy and radiation therapy. FMC Butner manages a broad range of subacute and chronically ill inmates. An orthopedic surgery program is available. Dialysis services are provided on-site.

FMC Carswell, Fort Worth, Texas

Located in Fort Worth in the northeast corner of the Naval Air Station, Joint Reserve Base, FMC Carswell serves as the major medical and psychiatric referral center for female inmates. All specialty areas of medicine are available at FMC Carswell, through in-house staff and community-based consultant specialists.

FMC Devens, Massachusetts

Located in central Massachusetts, northeast of Worcester, FMC Devens serves both medical and mental health care needs of male inmates. All specialty areas of medicine are available at FMC Devens, through in-house staff and community-based consultant specialists. Additional services provided at FMC Devens include dialysis treatment for inmates with end-stage renal failure.

FMC Fort Worth, Texas

The Federal Medical Center in Fort Worth, Texas, opened in 1971 and was the first adult cocorrectional (male and female) facility in the United States. Over the years, the institution has had several mission changes and currently serves as a medical center for males and a jail for United States Marshals Service prisoners. In addition to providing ambulatory care services for its general population inmates, FMC Fort Worth supports a 76-bed medical unit for Care Level 4 Inmates needing 24-hour nursing care.

FMC Lexington, Kentucky

Located just north of Lexington, FMC Lexington treats male inmates. All specialty areas of medicine are available by in-house staff and community-based consultant specialists. FMC Lexington is the primary referral center for inmates with most types of leukemia and lymphoma.

FMC Rochester, Minnesota

Located 80 miles southeast of Minneapolis, FMC Rochester serves as a major medical and mental health referral center for male inmates. Most specialty and sub-specialty consultations are available through the Mayo Clinic, and in other local facilities.

FMC Rochester is the primary referral center for inmates with end-stage liver disease and advanced HIV infection, as well as other infectious diseases requiring long-term management. FMC Rochester provides extensive psychiatric and psychology services, including inpatient psychiatry services and forensic studies.

U.S. Medical Center for Federal Prisoners (USMCFP), Springfield, Missouri

Located in southwest Missouri, USMCFP Springfield is a major medical and psychiatric referral center for male inmates. All specialty areas of medicine are available at USMCFP Springfield, through in-house staff and community-based consultant specialists.

Springfield is the primary referral center for high security inmates. The institution maintains extensive psychiatric and psychological services, to include inpatient forensic studies. It is the major kidney dialysis center for the BOP.

Voluntary Mental Health and Medical Treatment

In accordance with Program Statement 6031.05, <u>Patient Care</u>; Program Statement 6340.04, <u>Psychiatric Services</u>; and Program Statement 5310.17, <u>Psychology Services Manual</u>, the health care mission of the BOP is to provide appropriate and necessary medical, dental, and mental health services to inmates by professional staff. As in the community, each individual inmate is responsible for self-care, and for seeking medical services when necessary. Regardless of Care Level, each inmate is assigned to a Primary Care Provider Team. Whenever possible, the inmate will see the same medical provider(s) for each appointment, ensuring continuity of care and economy of service.

Patient care is provided by appointment, scheduled in advance through request by the inmate, or scheduled by the provider for follow-up examination. A nominal co-pay for inmate-initiated medical visits is assessed to encourage responsible use of health care resources, but no inmate is denied care because of inability to pay. <u>See</u> Program Statement 6031.02, <u>Inmate Copayment Program</u>. Prescribed medications are given free of charge, in accordance with an established National Formulary. Certain over-the-counter medications may be purchased in the inmate commissary. <u>See</u> Program Statement 6541.02, <u>Over-the-Counter Medications</u>. Inmates may keep prescribed medications within their possession. Medical staff individually dispenses controlled medication.

11. Managing Infectious Disease

inmate education plays a large role in the BOP's effort to prevent and manage infectious disease. Inmates are provided information on a continuing basis to address disease prevention, both within the institution and in preparation for release. The BOP has adopted a multi-faceted program of testing, treatment, and education. All sentenced inmates are offered testing for HIV on initial admission; when clinically indicated; and on request of the inmate at the discretion of staff.

Testing is required for inmates with HIV risk factors. While inmates with HIV are housed in the general population, HIV-positive inmates who demonstrate predatory or promiscuous behavior may be isolated in order to protect other inmates from becoming infected. The BOP also maintains an active program to control and treat contagious Tuberculosis (TB). Each inmate is required to undergo TB screening within two calendar days of initial incarceration. Inmates who are free from prior TB infection are screened annually for newly acquired TB infection, and when clinical staff determines that the inmate may be at risk for infection. Infectious diseases are managed in BOP facilities in accordance with BOP Clinical Guidance, e.g., COVID-19, HIV, Hepatitis C, Hepatitis B, Scabies, Varicella, Medical Management Exposures, etc. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 541.60–.68; Program Statement 6190.04, Infectious Disease Management. For current and comprehensive information concerning BOP's response to COVID-19, refer to the "BOP: COVID-19 Update" page on https://www.BOP.gov/.

12. Mental Health Counseling and Treatment Services

Inmates are offered a full range of mental health services, through psychologists, psychiatrists, and community mental health specialists. <u>See</u> Program Statement 5310.17, <u>Psychology Services</u> <u>Manual</u>; Program Statement 6010.05, <u>Health Services Administration</u>; Program Statement 6340.04, <u>Psychiatric Services</u>; Program Statement 5310.16, CN-1 <u>Treatment and Care of Inmates</u> <u>with Mental Illness</u>; and Program Statement 6010.03, <u>Psychiatric Evaluation and Treatment</u>. Many inmates can be treated on an outpatient basis. Inmates requiring in-patient treatment are referred to one of several psychiatric referral centers: FMC Rochester; USMCFP Springfield; FMC Butner; FMC Devens; and FMC Carswell for female inmates.

Psychiatric medication is used only for a diagnosed psychiatric disorder for which such medication is the most appropriate treatment. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 549.40–.46; Program Statement 6010.03, <u>Psychiatric Evaluation and Treatment</u>. Psychiatric treatment is available on-site, through telemedicine evaluation, or by community consultants.

Suicide prevention is a major concern at all institutions. Program Statement 5324.08, <u>Suicide</u> <u>Prevention Program</u>, emphasizes staff training to alert staff to signs of those inmates who may be contemplating suicide and provides for comprehensive prevention programs.

Involuntary Mental Health Treatment

The Supreme Court has held that the Due Process Clause permits prison officials to involuntarily medicate a mentally ill inmate with psychotropic medication if the inmate is dangerous to self—

either actively or by being gravely disabled—or to others, and if such treatment is in the prisoner's medical interest. <u>See Washington v. Harper</u>, 494 U.S. 210 (1990); <u>see also United States v. Sell</u>, 539 U.S. 166 (2003) (holding that if medication is to be involuntarily administered solely for the purpose of restoring an inmate's competency, the decision must be made by the trial court); 28 C.F.R. §§ 549.40–.46; Program Statement 6010.03, <u>Psychiatric Evaluation and Treatment</u>. Such treatment is permissible after the inmate has received notice and a hearing before an administrative panel.⁴ In a psychiatric emergency, psychotropic medication may be administered involuntarily if the medication is an appropriate treatment for the mental illness and other alternatives would not be effective. Inmates given emergency treatment of this type will be considered for referral to a BOP psychiatric referral center.

Mental Health Programs

Psychology staff is available at all institutions to provide inmates with counseling and other mental health services. Staff facilitate ongoing counseling programs, conduct personal crisis intervention, and are readily accessible to inmates as needed. Staff or contract psychiatrists are available for individual consultation.

All inmates are screened by Psychology Services staff during the institution's Admission and Orientation Program. Screening may include an individual interview. Psychologists are available for individual and group counseling, and inmates interested in these services may submit a request for participation to a staff member in Psychology Services. Mental health services are offered to treat drug use and alcohol abuse, as well as other behavioral and emotional problems. <u>See</u> Program Statement 5310.17, <u>Psychology Services Manual</u>. In addition, BOP staff in each housing unit are available for informal counseling sessions. inmate participation in these activities is voluntary and encouraged.

Sex Offender Management and Treatment

The BOP maintains a comprehensive sex offender management strategy, implemented to effectively manage its population of sex offenders, and manage the risks posed by these inmates to the general public. With the enactment of the Walsh Act, the BOP further expanded its monitoring, evaluation, and treatment programs for sex offenders. See 18 U.S.C. § 3621(f); Program Statement 5324.10, CN-1, Sex Offender Programs.

Inmates with a history of sexual offenses may be designated to the Sex Offender Management Program (SOMP). SOMPs are located at FMC Carswell, Texas (female inmates), FMC Devens, Massachusetts (Administrative/Medical); FCI Elkton, Ohio (Low Security); FCI Englewood, Colorado (Low Security); FCI Marianna, Florida (Medium Security); USP Marion, Illinois (Medium Security); FCI Milan, Michigan (Low Security); FCI Petersburg, Virginia (Medium Security); FCI Seagoville, Texas (Low Security); and USP Tucson, Arizona (High Security). Assignment is made in accordance with the security level of the individual.

All SOMPs offer treatment programming in two levels of intensity: the high intensity residential

⁴ Medication may be administered without an administrative hearing for emergencies in which a person is suffering from a mental illness which creates an immediate threat of bodily harm to self or others, serious destruction of property, or extreme deterioration of functioning secondary to psychiatric illness. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 549.40–.46.

Sex Offender Treatment Program (SOTP-R) or the moderate intensity non-residential Sex Offender Treatment Program (SOTP-NR). Inmates volunteering for treatment are assessed to determine the most appropriate program level based on a review of their offense history. Inmates at any BOP institution may request placement in treatment programming. Once an inmate requests treatment, BOP staff conduct an assessment to determine the inmate's assigned program level and arranges a transfer to the appropriate institution. Treatment is ordinarily provided in the last three years of the inmate's sentence.

Inmates determined to be at high risk of reoffending are referred to the SOTP-R, offered at FMC Devens and USP Marion. Placement in the SOTP-R is reserved for high-risk sexual inmates, based on the extent and seriousness of the inmate's offending history, as determined by a formal risk assessment conducted by BOP staff. The SOTP-R is a modified therapeutic community housed in a specialized treatment unit. The program employs cognitive-behavioral therapy to help the sex offender effectively manage his sexual behavior both within the institution and in preparation for release. Ordinarily, participants complete the program in 18 months.

The SOTP-NR is offered at the remaining SOMP institutions. The SOTP-NR is designed to meet the treatment needs of low and moderate risk sexual inmates. SOTP-NR offers inmates individualized non-residential treatment, ordinarily involving four to six hours of programming per week over a 9-to-12-month period.

Implementation of the Prison Rape Elimination Act of 2003

Congress enacted PREA to address sexual abuse of inmates, including at all institutions housing adults and juveniles, as well as in community-based facilities. Pursuant to 28 C.F.R. § 115, and Program Statement 5324.12, CN-1, <u>Sexually Abusive Behavior Prevention and Intervention Program</u>, the BOP maintains a zero-tolerance approach to prison rape. The BOP has implemented PREA by prevention planning; training and education of staff, volunteer, contractors, and inmates; screening for risk of sexual victimization and abusiveness; and ensuring that any incident is reported, investigated, and that perpetrators are effectively disciplined. Inmates are encouraged to report sexual abuse to a staff member, and to inform staff if the inmate has witnessed sexually abusive behavior. BOP staff keep reported information confidential, discussing the case with officials only on a need-to-know basis, and only for law enforcement or investigative purposes.

Should an inmate not feel comfortable talking with staff, inmates are instructed to use special mail procedures and write directly to the Warden, Regional Director, or the Director. An inmate may also send an e-mail directly to the Office of the Inspector General of the Department of Justice if he or she wishes to do so. Every allegation of sexual abuse is investigated, and staff take appropriate steps to both safeguard inmates and to prosecute perpetrators.

D. Visiting, Telephones, and Correspondence

1. Visiting

Inmates are encouraged, throughout their incarceration, to maintain ties with family and friends in the community. Inmates are ordinarily permitted face-to-face visitation with approved family and
friends in the institutions' general visiting room areas. Attorney visits are afforded as much privacy as possible to ensure confidentiality. <u>See</u> Program Statement 5267.09, CN-1, <u>Visiting Regulations</u>. Conjugal visits are not permitted. Each institution schedules its own visiting hours and procedures. Inmates receive this information during the A&O process, so they can advise family members and others of the visiting requirements. Visitors should also consult the BOP website, for individual institution visiting instructions and scheduled hours. Pretrial inmates may receive visits in accordance with the local institution's guidelines for visiting. However, staff may allow a pretrial inmate special visit to protect the inmate's business interests or to help prepare for trial. <u>See</u> 28 C.F.R. §§ 551.100–.120; Program Statement 7331.05, <u>Pretrial Inmates</u>.

Inmates have no constitutional right to social prison visits, and the courts have accorded substantial deference to the judgment of prison administrators to place limitations on inmate visiting. Based on security concerns, institutions may restrict visitation. An inmate's visiting privileges may, under certain circumstances, be withheld as a disciplinary sanction. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 540.40–.52.

2. Telephones

Telephone privileges are another means of maintaining community and family ties. <u>See</u> 28 C.F.R. §§ 540.100–.106; Program Statement 5264.08, <u>Inmate Telephone Regulations</u>. Inmates may call friends and family outside the institution on a telephone provided for that purpose. An inmate's telephone time is ordinarily limited to 300 minutes per calendar month. Limitations and conditions may be imposed upon an inmate's telephone privileges to ensure consistency with other aspects of correctional management responsibilities.

Inmates are advised of the institution's telephone monitoring capability, and a notice is posted at each inmate telephone advising that calls are monitored. Inmates sign the BP-A0407 and BP-A0408 forms to acknowledge they have been informed that phone calls are monitored. Use of the telephone constitutes consent to the monitoring of calls. Inmates are responsible for the expenses of inmate telephone use. See 28 C.F.R. § 540.105(a); Program Statement 5264.08, Inmate Telephone Regulations. Unmonitored calls to attorneys are permitted in limited circumstances. See infra V.F.5, Unmonitored Legal Telephone Calls. Third-party or other alternative call arrangements are not permitted, thus limiting the opportunity for inmates to use the phones for criminal or other inappropriate purposes. Inmates are not permitted possession or use of cellphones or electronic communication devices. Any such possession or use is grounds for disciplinary action and possible criminal prosecution.

3. Written and Electronic Correspondence

Inmates are encouraged to write to family, friends, and other community contacts during incarceration. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 540.10–.25; Program Statement 5265.14, Correspondence. inmate correspondence is classified as "general mail," "special mail," or "legal mail." "General mail" is opened and inspected by staff for both contraband and content, which might threaten the security or good order of the institution. Incoming "special mail" is opened only in the presence of the inmate and inspected for physical contraband and the qualification of any enclosures as special mail. Consult Program Statement 5265.14 for detailed discussion of "general" and "special" mail procedures. Inmates are not permitted use of express mail services. For more information regarding inmate "legal mail," <u>see infra</u> V.F.4, Legal Mail.

All BOP facilities provide eligible inmates with the capability to send and receive electronic messages using dedicated BOP computers. <u>See</u> Program Statement 4500.12, <u>Trust Fund/Deposit</u> <u>Fund Manual</u>. The Trust Fund Limited Inmate Computer System (TRULINCS) electronic messaging system is funded entirely by the inmate Trust Fund, which is maintained by profits from inmate purchases of commissary products and telephone services, and the fees inmates are pay for using TRULINCS. Inmates have no access to the Internet. As with traditional mail communication, all such messages are subject to staff monitoring, including an inmate's electronic communication with his or her attorney. Message content is subject to the same restrictions as regular mail.

Inmates (other than pre-trial detainees) may not direct a business while incarcerated. This does not, however, prohibit correspondence necessary to enable an inmate to protect property and funds that were legitimately the inmate's at the time of commitment. For example, an inmate may correspond about refinancing an existing mortgage or sign insurance papers but may not operate a mortgage or insurance business while in the institution.

Inmates are permitted to receive commercial publications from the community in accordance with 28 C.F.R. §§ 540.70–.72, and Program Statement 5266.11, <u>Incoming Publications</u>. Except when precluded by statute, inmates are permitted to subscribe to, or receive by mail, publications without prior approval. <u>See</u> 28 C.F.R. § 540.70; Program Statement 5266.11, <u>Incoming Publications</u>. The BOP has established procedures to determine if an incoming publication is detrimental to the security, discipline, or good order of the institution, might facilitate criminal activity, or is otherwise prohibited by law, and will reject publications found to meet those criteria.

E. Inmate Discipline Program

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 4042(a)(3), the BOP administers the inmate discipline program to promote a safe and orderly environment for inmates and staff. After arriving at a BOP facility, all inmates receive written notice of their rights and responsibilities, prohibited acts within the institution, the possible range of sanctions for each offense, and disciplinary procedure.

Engaging in a prohibited act carries sanctions corresponding to the severity of the offense. Sanctions may include time in disciplinary segregation (special housing units), loss of good time credits, and loss of privileges. <u>See</u> 28 C.F.R. §§ 541.1–.8; Program Statement 5270.09, CN-1, <u>Inmate Discipline Program</u>; Program Statement 5270.12, CN-1, <u>Special Housing Units</u>. Only institution staff may take disciplinary action against inmates. Corporal punishment, as well as retaliatory and capricious disciplinary action, is not permitted under any circumstance.

Consistent with the minimum procedural protections required by <u>Wolff v. McDonnell</u>, 418 U.S. 539 (1974), the BOP disciplinary process requires that staff provide the inmate with a written copy of the charges, and that the inmate is entitled to be present during the initial hearing. An inmate is not permitted a staff representative or to call witnesses at a Unit Discipline Committee (UDC) hearing, but may present documentary evidence. However, at a DHO hearing, the inmate may request a staff representative and may have witnesses appear at the proceeding. An attorney may not represent the inmate at either hearing. Inmates may appeal the decision of the UDC or the DHO pursuant to Program Statement 1330.18, <u>Administrative Remedy Program</u>. See 28 C.F.R.

§§ 542.10–.19.

F. Inmate Access to the Courts

The Supreme Court in Lewis v. Casey, 518 U.S. 343 (1996), held that while prisons were constitutionally required to provide inmates with meaningful access to the courts, they were not required to do so in any particular manner. The BOP affords inmates reasonable access to the courts by providing them with legal materials, access to their attorney, and reasonable opportunity to prepare legal documents. See 28 C.F.R. § 543; Program Statement 1315.07, CN-1, Legal Activities, Inmate.

1. Law Libraries

All federal prisons maintain inmate electronic law libraries ("ELLs"). Legal materials available in the ELL include U.S. District Court, Court of Appeals, and Supreme Court decisions, federal statutes and regulations, and other documents including, but not limited to, court rules and procedures, federal sentencing guidelines, and resource materials. The ELL also contains the BOP Program Statements. ELL access is available at workstations located in housing units, recreation, medical units, disciplinary and administrative segregation and other spaces in the institution that the Warden feels is appropriate. Inmates with pending court deadlines may be given additional time to conduct their legal research on the ELL, if necessary. Training for inmates in the use of the ELL is available through an on-line tutorial and access to a Quick Reference Guide (in English and Spanish). Inmates may also print copies of cases and other materials on the ELL. An inmate may solicit or purchase legal materials from outside the institution, pursuant to Program Statement 5266.11, Incoming Publications.

2. Preparation of Legal Documents

Inmates are permitted a reasonable amount of time, ordinarily when not participating in a scheduled program or work assignment, to conduct legal research relevant to their case, and to prepare legal documents. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 543.10–.16; Program Statement 1315.07, CN-1, Legal Activities, Inmate. Inmates ordinarily have access to photocopying machines, typewriters, and office supplies. For safety, security, and fire hazard reasons, inmates are limited in the number of legal materials they may possess. See Program Statement 1315.07, CN-1, Legal Activities, Inmate; Program Statement 5580.08, Inmate Personal Property. Inmates generally may assist each other in preparing legal documents, absent unique security concerns. However, one inmate may not possess another inmate's legal materials. Any assistance offered by one inmate to another is voluntary, and the assisting inmate may not receive compensation for their services from another inmate. An inmate is not entitled to assistance from any specific inmate.

3. Attorneys

At all institutions inmates are permitted to contact and retain attorneys. <u>See</u> 28 C.F.R. §§ 543.10–.16; 28 C.F.R. §§ 551.100–.120; Program Statement 1315.07, <u>Legal Activities, Inmate</u>; Program

Statement 7331.05, <u>Pretrial Inmates</u>. Attorney visiting ordinarily takes place during regular institution visiting hours. Attorney visits may be conducted at times other than established visiting hours with the approval of the Warden or the Warden's designee. Attorneys and, in some cases, their representatives, may generally visit inmate clients in private conference rooms if available, or in other accommodations designed to ensure a reasonable degree of privacy. Attorney representatives, such as interpreters, paralegals, and private investigators, must contact the institution in advance in order to complete the necessary documentation to be permitted to visit and inmate on behalf of an attorney. Legal visits are visually monitored, as necessary, but are not subject to auditory monitoring. <u>See</u> 28 C.F.R. §§ 543.10–.16.

Visits by Foreign Attorneys

Attorneys who are not licensed in a state or jurisdiction of the United States must provide verification of their status as a licensed attorney, in good standing, in a foreign jurisdiction prior to their initial visit. Foreign attorneys should contact their respective consulate office, which should provide official documentation to the United States Government. Please have the Consulate Office directly fax the verification to the respective CLC for the institution they are visiting. Once the status of the foreign attorney is confirmed, the attorney will be processed as a legal visitor for future visits. A foreign attorney's status needs to be updated by staff annually.

4. Legal Mail

Particular care is taken to ensure that "special mail" (mail to or from courts, attorneys, and certain government officials) is kept confidential. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 540.10–.25; Program Statement 5265.14, Correspondence. Special mail from attorneys must be marked "Special Mail-Open only in the presence of the inmate." In addition, the sender must identify himself or herself on the envelope as a person entitled to invoke the protections of special mail. The sender's return address must reference an individual identified as an attorney, not a firm, e.g., "John Doe, Attorney," not "Law Offices of Smith & Smith." Incoming special mail is opened in the presence of the inmate and is visually inspected for contraband. Staff may inspect incoming special mail to determine that it qualifies as such, but may not otherwise review its content.

To reduce the likelihood that inmates will successfully send harmful materials to persons in the community by exploiting the privacy afforded outgoing special mail, all outgoing special mail from an inmate must be delivered directly to a staff member for further processing. Staff then confirm that the inmate delivering the outgoing special mail is the same inmate reflected in the return address. Inmates may seal outgoing special mail, before submitting directly to staff for further processing. All outgoing special mail is subject to scanning by electronic means.

5. Unmonitored Legal Telephone Calls

Inmates may place unmonitored telephone calls to their attorneys. <u>See</u> 28 C.F.R. § 540; Program Statement 5264.08, <u>Inmate Telephone Regulations</u>. To do so, inmates must specifically request staff assistance to first approve the call, and then place the call on an unmonitored staff telephone. A pretrial inmate may telephone his or her attorney as often as resources of the institution allow.

<u>See</u> 28 C.F.R. §§ 551.100–.120; Program Statement 7331.05, <u>Pretrial Inmates</u>. To receive permission to place an unmonitored attorney call, an inmate is ordinarily required to establish that his or her communication with attorneys by other means is not adequate. The 300-minute per calendar month limitation does not apply to unmonitored legal telephone calls. inmate requests for unmonitored attorney calls are carefully reviewed. Frequent unmonitored telephone calls increase an Inmate's opportunity to pursue illegal activities without detection and require an inordinate amount of staff time.

6. Inmate Involvement in Litigation While Incarcerated

Depositions

Should an attorney wish to take an inmate's deposition, the attorney must contact the inmate directly to obtain his or her consent to being deposed. In matters pending in federal court, leave of a court of competent jurisdiction must be obtained, and the court must grant leave to the extent consistent with Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 26(b)(1) and (2), prior to taking any deposition of a federal inmate. See FED. R. CIV. P. 30(a)(2)(B). If the inmate agrees to cooperate, the attorney should then contact the relevant institution, in which the deposition is to be held, to assist in making arrangements. CLC staff at the relevant institution are available to assist, as needed.

The attorney must submit a written request to the Warden containing the following information:

- (1) Name and register number of the inmate being deposed;
- (2) Name, title, and organization of each person attending;
- (3) Requested date and time for the deposition;
- (4) Expected length of deposition;
- (5) List of all equipment to be used at the deposition;
- (6) Case caption, case number, and nature of matter;
- (7) Whether inmate consent has been obtained; and
- (8) Court order, if applicable.

Recording devices are not permitted inside the institution without the prior written permission of the Warden. Requests to introduce such equipment must be processed and approved prior to scheduling a visit. All equipment is subject to inspection prior to entering the institution.

If approved, at the discretion of the Warden, a room may be made available for the deposition. The Warden may also limit the total number of people who can attend the deposition based on the available accommodations. Further, the attendees will generally be limited to the attorneys representing the inmate -deponent, party attorneys, court reporters, or videographers. Ordinary visiting regulations will apply, and each entrant must complete the visitor application process before being admitted to the institution.

Subpoenas

Response to a subpoena by BOP staff will be processed in accordance with applicable policy. <u>See</u>, 28 C.F.R. § 513; Program Statement 1351.05, CN-2, <u>Release of Information</u>. Should an attorney

request the appearance of a staff member in a court proceeding, or request the production of documents by subpoena, the CLC attorneys will consult with the relevant U.S. Attorney's Office, in accordance with 28 C.F.R. §§ 16.21–.29. Requests for documents may also be handled through a Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request. Consult <u>www.BOP.gov/foia</u> for more information on the FOIA process.

Service of Process on Inmates

The BOP will not accept service of process for or on behalf of an inmate. Anyone desiring to serve an inmate may use a local process server, or otherwise follow local court procedures in the jurisdiction in which the inmate is housed. Wardens may require local process servers effectuating in-person service to be a law enforcement officer acting in that capacity. If otherwise permitted to perform in-person service on inmates, Wardens may require non-law enforcement process servers to undergo a criminal background check. The prospective process server or individual seeking to effect service of process is advised to contact the institution in which the inmate is housed, for specific information.

State Court Appearance of an Inmate

In accordance with 28 C.F.R. §§ 527.30–.31 and Program Statement 5875.13, <u>Transfer of Inmates</u> to State Agents for Production on State Writs, the BOP will consider the request of a state or local court for the transfer of an inmate to local, physical custody pursuant to a state writ of habeas corpus *ad prosequendam* or *ad testificandum*. Such transfer is at the discretion of the Warden. Transfers in civil cases pursuant to a writ *ad testificandum* must be cleared through both the institution CLC and the Warden. Transfers will be recommended only if the case is substantial, where testimony cannot be obtained through alternative means (i.e., depositions or interrogatories) and where security concerns do not preclude such a transfer. Telephonic or video appearance of the inmate is possible, subject to staff availability and prior approval from the Warden.

Inmate Access to Electronic Discovery Materials

In some circumstances, an inmate may access litigation documents in various electronic formats rather than in printed form. Electronic legal materials for inmate review should be provided by an attorney on a storage device appropriate with the maintenance of the safety and security of the institution and compatible with the configuration available at the institution. Specific requests and/or questions regarding the institution's e-discovery capabilities should be directed to the Warden of the institution in which the inmate is confined or the responsible CLC. See Appendix B.

G. Administrative Remedy Program

The Administrative Remedy Program provides every inmate with the opportunity to seek formal review of a grievance concerning virtually any aspect of his or her confinement, should informal procedures not achieve resolution. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 542.10–.19; Program Statement 1330.18, Administrative Remedy Program. This program applies to all inmates confined in institutions operated by the BOP, inmates designated to contract RRCs, and to former inmates for issues that arose during confinement. Inmates are obligated to attempt informal resolution of grievances prior

to filing a formal request for administrative remedy. Once a formal request is filed at the institution level ("BP-9")⁵, the Warden of that facility has 20 days to investigate and provide the inmate a written response.

If the inmate is dissatisfied with the Warden's response, he or she has 20 days to file a Regional Administrative Remedy Appeal ("BP-10"). Once received in the Regional Office, the Regional Director has 30 days to investigate and provide the inmate a written response. If the inmate is dissatisfied with the Regional Director's response, he or she has 30 days to file a Central Office Administrative Remedy Appeal ("BP-11"). Once received in the Central Office, the Administrator, National Inmate Appeals, has 40 days to investigate and provide the inmate a written response. After receiving the Administrator's response, the inmate has exhausted the BOP's Administrative Remedy Program. The program provides for expedited investigations and responses in emergency situations, as well as providing extensions of time for both filing grievances and receiving responses. No time limit is imposed upon an inmate raising allegations of sexual abuse through the administrative remedy system.

If the inmate considers the issue to be sensitive, e.g., the inmate's safety or well-being would be placed in danger if the request became known at the institution, the inmate may submit the appeal directly to the appropriate Regional Director. The inmate must mark the request as "sensitive" and explain in writing the reason for not submitting the request at the institution. If the Regional Administrative Remedy Coordinator agrees that the request is sensitive, the request shall be accepted, investigated, and a response will be generated. Otherwise, the request will not be accepted, and the inmate shall be advised in writing of that determination, without a return of the request. The inmate may then pursue the matter by submitting a request for Administrative Remedy to the Warden. The Warden shall allow a reasonable time extension resubmission.

The PLRA requires prisoners to exhaust administrative remedies before filing suit in federal court. That statute provides that "[n]o action shall be brought with respect to prison conditions under section 1983 of this title, or any other Federal law, by a prisoner confined in any jail, prison, or other correctional facility until such administrative remedies as are available are exhausted." <u>See</u> 42 U.S.C. § 1997e(a). <u>See also Porter v. Nussle</u>, 534 U.S. 516 (2002); <u>Booth v. Churner</u>, 532 U.S. 731 (2001). Exhaustion is mandatory in <u>Bivens</u> actions.⁶ However, exhaustion in habeas petitions has been judicially created. Exhaustion is generally expected; however, courts may waive it in cases where they believe exhaustion would have been futile. The requirement to exhaust the administrative remedy process serves to: (1) promote administrative efficiency by preventing premature judicial interference with agency processes; (2) encourage respect for executive autonomy by allowing an agency opportunity to correct its own errors; (3) facilitate judicial review by affording courts the benefits of an agency's experience and expertise; and (4) serve judicial economy by having the agency compile the factual record.

The Supreme Court reaffirmed these holdings, in Woodford v. Ngo, 548 U.S. 81, 90-91 (2006),

⁵ Referenced forms for the Administrative Remedy Program are provided by Unit Counselors.

⁶ The term "<u>Bivens</u> actions" stems from the case, <u>Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Federal Bureau of</u> <u>Narcotics</u>, 403 U.S. 388 (1971). In a <u>Bivens</u> action, an inmate is suing a staff member in their individual capacity, alleging that the staff member intentionally or maliciously violated an inmate's clearly established constitutional right. The inmate seeks monetary damages directly from the employee and not from the U.S. Government.

and mandated ". . .compliance with an agency's deadlines and other critical procedural rules because no adjudicative system can function effectively without imposing some orderly structure on the course of its proceedings." The Supreme Court further held in <u>Woodford</u>, "[t]he text of 42 U.S.C. § 1997e(a) strongly suggests that PLRA uses the term 'exhaustion' to mean. . .proper exhaustion." Section 1997e(a) refers to "such administrative remedies as are available" and thus points to the doctrine of exhaustion in administrative law. <u>See Jones v. Bock</u>, 549 U.S. 199 (2007).

H. Inmate Personal Property

Inmates may possess only that property which is authorized by policy to be retained upon admission to the institution, is issued while the inmate is in custody, is purchased in the institution commissary, or is approved by staff to be mailed to, or otherwise received by an inmate. See 28 C.F.R. § 553; Program Statement 5580.08, Inmate Personal Property. These rules contribute to the management of inmate personal property in the institution and contribute to a safe environment for staff and inmates by reducing fire hazards, security risks, and sanitation problems. Required hygiene items are issued by the institution, and personal preference items are available for purchase in the Commissary. See Program Statement 4400.05, CN-2, Property Management Manual; Program Statement 5230.05, Grooming. Inmates may purchase a variety of clothing, snacks, and grooming items in the Commissary at scheduled times. As of April 15, 2006, no tobacco products are sold in the Commissary, and inmates are prohibited from smoking or using tobacco in any form except for religious purposes as authorized by staff in accordance with Program Statement 5360.10, Religious Beliefs and Practices.

I. Inmate Liens

Following passage of the Court Security Improvement Act of 2007, Pub. L. No. 110-177, the BOP added additional restrictions to the documents an inmate may possess. Title 18 of the United States Code, § 1521, establishes a criminal offense for filing, attempting to file, or conspiring to file, a false lien or encumbrance against the real or personal property of a federal judge or federal law enforcement officer. Secondly, 18 U.S.C. § 119 establishes a criminal offense for making publicly available "restricted personal information" about a "covered person" with the intent to threaten, intimidate, or incite a crime of violence against such persons which includes court officers, jurors, witnesses, informants, and federal law enforcement officers. inmate mail which contains documents determined to be related to fraudulent Uniform Commercial Code filings, redemption, and/or copyright proceedings may be rejected as outlined in Program Statement 5265.14, <u>Correspondence</u>. If an inmate is found to be in possession of these types of documents or information without authorization, those items will be confiscated, and the inmate will be subject to inmate discipline. In addition, materials believed to be of a criminal nature will be reviewed to determine whether the action should be referred for criminal prosecution, as noted in Program Statement 1350.01, <u>Criminal Matter Referrals</u>.

J. Special Administrative Measures

1. National Security Cases, 28 C.F.R. § 501.2

Upon direction of the Attorney General, the Director may authorize the Warden to implement

Special Administrative Measures (SAMs) that are reasonably necessary to prevent disclosure of classified information that would pose a threat to the national security if the inmate disclosed such information. SAMs include, but are not limited to, placing an inmate in administrative detention and restricting social visits, mail privileges, phone calls, access to other inmates and to themedia.

Section 501.2 authorizes the Director, upon direction of the Attorney General, to determine the period of time an initial SAM is imposed, up to one year. The Director may also extend the SAM in increments of time not to exceed one year, if the Attorney General receives certification from the intelligence community that there is a danger that the inmate will disclose classified information and that the unauthorized disclosure would pose a threat to the national security.

2. Prevention of Acts of Violence and Terrorism, 28 C.F.R. § 501.3

Upon direction of the Attorney General, the Director may authorize the Warden to implement SAMs that are reasonably necessary to protect persons against the risk of death or serious bodily injury. These procedures may be implemented when there is a substantial risk that an inmate's communications or contacts with persons could result in death or serious bodily injury to persons, or substantial damage to property that would entail the risk of death or serious bodily injury to persons. Initial imposition of the SAM may be for a period of time not to exceed one year.

The Director may extend the SAM in increments of time not to exceed one year, on receipt of written notification from the Attorney General that certification was received by the Attorney General from law enforcement or the intelligence community that there continues to be a substantial risk that the inmate's communications or contacts with other persons could result in death or serious bodily injury to persons, or substantial damage to property that would entail the risk of death or serious bodily injury to persons.

K. Family Emergencies and Temporary Releases

In limited circumstances, temporary release from the prison facility may be obtained through an approved furlough or an escorted trip. <u>See</u> 28 C.F.R. §§ 570.30–.45; Program Statement 5280.09, <u>Inmate Furloughs</u>; Program Statement 5538.08, <u>Escorted Trips</u>. Several factors are reviewed in determining whether a trip is permissible and how such a trip will be accomplished including the reason for the trip and the inmate's criminal history, security designation, and custody classification.

1. Furloughs

A furlough is an authorized absence from an institution by a sentenced inmate without an escort from the BOP, the USMS, or other federal or state agent. <u>See</u> Program Statement 5280.09, <u>Inmate Furloughs</u>. For federal inmates, whose offense occurred on or after November 1, 1987, 18 U.S.C. § 3622 vests the BOP with the sole authority to grant furloughs; for offenses committed prior to November 1, 1987, 18 U.S.C. § 4082 provides the Attorney General authority for furloughs; the related statute was struck by Pub. L. 98-473, § 218(a)(3). The BOP has delegated this function to the Warden of the federal prison where the inmate is incarcerated. <u>See</u> 28 C.F.R. § 570.33.

Furloughs are a privilege intended to help inmates develop release plans; re-establish family ties; participate in educational, religious, or social activities; or receive essential medical treatment that is not available in BOP custody. Except where the purpose of the furlough is to obtain necessary health care treatment, or to transfer to another facility, the inmate or the inmate's family must bear all expenses of the furlough, including transportation. Only within two years of their anticipated release dates and who have community custody are eligible for non-emergency day furloughs. An inmate who meets these and other requirements set forth in policy may apply to the Warden for a furlough. Pretrial Inmates are excluded from consideration. The Warden ordinarily may not grant a furlough to an inmate convicted of a serious crime against a person or whose presence in the community could attract undue public attention or undermine the seriousness of the offense. An inmate may appeal denial of a furlough application through the Administrative Remedy Program.

2. Escorted Trips

The BOP provides approved inmates with staff-escorted trips into the community for such purposes as receiving medical treatment not otherwise available at the institution, visiting a critically ill member of the inmate's immediate family, attending a funeral, or participating in a community program or work-related function. <u>See</u> Program Statement 5538.07, <u>Escorted Trips</u>. Escorted trips fall into one of two categories, medical and non-medical. The need for an escorted trip may arise unexpectedly (e.g., to visit a critically ill family member) or may be planned in advance (e.g., to attend an educational function). In many instances, the inmate and/or family must bear the cost of an escorted trip. An inmate may appeal denial of an escorted trip application through the Administrative Remedy Program.

L. Release

1. Early Release from Prison

Executive Clemency

The United States Constitution, Article II, Sec. 2, gives the President authority to issue pardons, commute sentences, remit fines, and grant reprieves to any person convicted of a federal crime. The U.S. Pardon Attorney ordinarily reviews all petitions for Executive Clemency, undertakes the necessary investigation, and prepares a recommendation for the President.

To expedite the Pardon Attorney's consideration of an inmate's petition for commutation of a sentence of imprisonment, a federal inmate seeking commutation should send the petition through the Warden to the Pardon Attorney. An inmate may request the appropriate forms and instructions for filing a petition for commutation of sentence from the inmate's case manager at the institution. Upon request from the Pardon Attorney, the Director will forward a recommendation on the inmate's petition. Staff may not refuse to process an inmate's petition for commutation of sentence, even when it appears that the inmate is not eligible. See 28 C.F.R. § 1; 28 C.F.R. §§ 571.40–.41; Program Statement 1330.15, CN-1, Commutation of Sentence, Petition for. Inmates seeking a pardon (rather than commutation of sentence) must wait at least five years after their release from confinement, or, if no confinement was imposed, five years after the date of

conviction. <u>See</u> 28 C.F.R. § 1.2. No petition will be accepted from a person on probation, parole, or supervised release. <u>See id.</u>

Reduction in Sentence

Title 18 U.S.C. § 3582(c)(1)(A)(i) authorizes the sentencing court to reduce a sentence upon motion of the Director of the BOP "if it finds that extraordinary and compelling reasons warrant such a reduction [and] that such a reduction is consistent with applicable policy statements issued by the Sentencing Commission." <u>See</u> 28 C.F.R. §§ 571.60-.64; Program Statement 5050.50, <u>Compassionate Release/Reduction in Sentence: Procedures for Implementation of 18 U.S.C.</u> §§ 3582(c)(1)(A) & 4205(g). For inmates whose offense was committed prior to November 1, 1987, the BOP may file a motion with the sentencing court seeking to reduce the inmate's minimum term to time served, thereby making the inmate eligible for parole consideration. The BOP cannot file a motion on behalf of inmates who are already parole eligible. Those inmates must go directly to the Parole Commission, or the BOP may recommend to the Parole Commission that the inmate be again reviewed for possible parole. <u>See</u> 18 U.S.C. § 4205(g). The actual release decision then rests with the Parole Commission, rather than with the sentencing court.

For inmates who committed their offense on or after November 1, 1987, the Director may ask the U.S. Attorney, in the jurisdiction that prosecuted the inmate, to file the BOP's motion for reduction in sentence (RIS), as the BOP cannot represent itself before the court. Inmates may request a RIS under the criteria enumerated in Program Statement 5050.50, which includes medical or nonmedical circumstances. Medical circumstances include terminal medical condition and debilitated medical condition. Non-medical circumstances may include elderly inmates; elderly inmates with medical conditions; circumstances in which there has been a death or incapacitation of the inmate's child caregiver, or the incapacitation of an inmate's spouse or registered partner. When reviewing a RIS request, BOP considers a number of factors enumerated in the Program Statement, such as the nature and circumstances of the inmate's offense; the inmate's criminal history, including any violations while on supervision; the inmate's institutional adjustment, including the inmate's disciplinary history; the inmate's release plan; and whether release of the inmate would minimize the severity of the inmate's offense or pose a danger to the safety or any other person or to the community. As part of the review process, BOP may solicit the input of identified victims and the U.S. Attorney's Office responsible for prosecuting the inmate. In addition, the Director may consult with the Office of the Deputy Attorney General as appropriate. D.C. Code inmates may submit RIS requests under the relevant D.C. Code provisions.

After an inmate has fully exhausted all administrative rights to appeal a failure of the BOP to bring a motion on the inmate's behalf, or the lapse of 30 days from the receipt of an inmate's RIS request by the Warden of the inmate's facility, whichever is earlier, the inmate is permitted to file a motion for RIS directly with the sentencing court.

2. Parole

Many inmates sentenced to a term of imprisonment of more than one year for offenses committed before November 1, 1987, are eligible to be released on parole. See 18 U.S.C. § 4205; 28 C.F.R. § 2. Generally, inmates must complete one-third of the term imposed or some other court-imposed minimum term before becoming eligible for parole. See 28 C.F.R. § 2; Program Statement

5800.15, CN-1, <u>Correctional Systems Manual</u>; Program Statement 5880.30, <u>Sentence Computation Manual/Old Law/Pre CCCA 1984</u>.

A federal inmate seeking parole must apply to the United States Parole Commission. At least 60 days before the initial hearing, the inmate is notified of the time and place of the hearing and of the right to review documentation to be considered by the Parole Commission. See 28 C.F.R. § 2.

3. Pre-Release or Community Confinement in Preparation for Release

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3624(c), most inmates nearing release or parole from a federal institution will be housed at an RRC during the final portion of their sentence. Such placement assists the inmate in finding a job, locating a place to live, and re-establishing family ties.

RRCs are operated by a number of social service agencies and private companies under contract to the BOP. RRCs offer a broad spectrum of pre-release programs for community confinement of federal inmates. To oversee these services, the BOP maintains a network of Residential Reentry Management Offices in major cities throughout the country. <u>See</u> Program Statement 7300.09, CN-3, <u>Community Corrections Manual</u>.

While BOP staff closely monitor RRCs, the RRC contractor is responsible for all aspects of the inmate's confinement. The RRC will assist the inmate in locating employment; medical care; social services; and in re-establishing community and family ties. Should an inmate violate any conditions of his or her residence at the facility, or has been involved in any further criminal activity, disciplinary sanctions will be imposed. An inmate may be returned to custody. BOP staff will review all RRC disciplinary sanctions imposed against the inmate to ensure compliance with BOP policy.

Inmate program plans are individualized and tailored to the reintegration needs of the inmate. During their stays, employed inmates may be required to pay a subsistence charge to help defray the costs of their confinement in the RRC. See 18 U.S.C. § 3622(c).

4. Home Confinement

Home confinement provides an opportunity for inmates to assume increasing levels of responsibility while at the same time providing sufficient restrictions to promote community safety and convey the sanctioning value of the sentence. See Program Statement 7320.01, CN-2, Home Confinement. Title 18 of the United States Code, § 3621, requires the BOP to designate any penal or correctional facility as the place of a prisoner's confinement; accordingly, an inmate will not be designated to home confinement at the beginning of his or her sentence. Home confinement may be considered for an eligible inmate nearing the end of his or her sentence and is an option for inmates who no longer require the structure of a halfway house. The inmate remains at his or her place of residence during non-working hours and may be monitored by telephonic or electronic signaling devices. See 18 U.S.C. § 3563(b)(19).

The BOP uses two different methods to monitor inmates on home confinement. The first requires the RRC to track the inmate's whereabouts and curfew compliance through daily telephone

contacts and periodic personal contacts at the home and workplace. The inmate must also report to the RRC on a scheduled basis for counseling and program updates.

The second method involves electronic monitoring. Many RRCs utilize such electronic monitoring technology, usually involving the use of an ankle bracelet signaling a computer-driven receiving and recording device to monitor an inmate's location.

5. First Step Act Programming Time Credits

The FSA provides that eligible inmates may earn programming time credits (PTCs) for successfully completing evidence-based recidivism reduction (EBRR) programs or productive activities (PAs). PTCs can be applied toward time in prerelease custody or early transfer to supervised release. See 18 U.S.C. § 3632(d)(4)(C). Eligible inmates earn 10 days of PTCs for every 30 days of successful participation in EBRR programs or PAs; an additional 5 days of PTCs are available to certain inmate who are determined to be at a minimum or low risk of recidivism. 18 U.S.C. § 3632(d)(4)(A). However, the FSA included a lengthy list of criminal convictions which would make an inmate ineligible to receive time credits; that list is codified at 18 U.S.C. § 3632(d)(4)(D). Additional eligibility criteria are codified at 18 U.S.C. § 3624(g)(1). A final rule was published on January 19, 2022, at 87 Fed. Reg. 2705 (2022), codified at 28 C.F.R. §§ 523 and 541, and established the procedures for the earning and application of time credits.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3624(c)(1), inmates nearing release may be placed at an RRC in the final months of their term of imprisonment for a period not to exceed 12 months. In addition, 18 U.S.C. § 3624(c)(2) authorizes the Bureau to place inmates on home confinement during the last 10 percent of their term of imprisonment or for 6 months, whichever is less. The Director may also transfer an inmate early to supervised release for up to 12 months based upon the application of PTCs, provided that the sentencing court imposed a term of supervised release. 18 U.S.C. § 3624(g)(3).

M. Notification to the Community of the Release of an Inmate

Title 18 of the United States Code, § 4042(b), requires that the BOP notify tribal, state, and local law enforcement officials at least five calendar days prior to the release of an inmate to supervised release, probation, or parole, who has been convicted of a "drug trafficking crime" or a "crime of violence." Prisoners released under the protection of the Witness Protection Program may be exempt from this provision. This requirement applies to all inmates whose current offense of conviction, or whose criminal history as determined by staff, includes such a conviction. For those inmates confined in an RRC, such notification is made at least two weeks prior to the inmate's release, probation or parole, the inmate's projected address on such release, and any release conditions or restrictions on the conduct of the prisoner imposed by the sentencing court, other than the Standard Conditions of Supervision found on the J&C. See Program Statement 5110.17, Notification Requirements Upon Release of Sex Offenders, Violent Inmates, and Drug Traffickers.

Title 18 of the United States Code, § 4042(c), requires notification be made for those inmates who have been convicted of certain sexual offenses. This notification operates both to ensure the safety

of the community, and to ensure such inmates are made aware of local treatment opportunities and registration requirements prior to release. <u>See</u> Program Statement 5110.17, <u>Notification Requirements Upon Release of Sex Offenders</u>, Violent Inmates, and Drug Traffickers. Notification is made to the chief law enforcement officer of the state, to the chief local or tribal law enforcement official, to the appropriate USPO, and to the sex offenders' registration official responsible for the receipt or maintenance of such information. Notification must be made at least two weeks prior to the release date. Further, staff must attach a completed Sex Offender Registration and Treatment Notification form, to document that the inmate was advised of sex offender registration requirements that may be operable in the releasing jurisdiction.

Sex offender registration and reporting requirements have been made more stringent with passage of the Walsh Act. The Walsh Act establishes standards for a nationwide sex offender registry and provides grant money to the states upon compliance with the requirements of the act. It is the inmate's legal requirement to register upon release. Section 141 of the Walsh Act, codified at 18 U.S.C. § 2250, creates federal criminal liability for failure to register.

The Victim and Witness Protection Act of 1982, the Crime Control Act of 1990, the Violent Crime Control and Law Enforcement Act of 1994, as well as the Attorney General's Guidelines for Victim and Witness Assistance, set forth procedures to meet the needs of crime victims and witnesses. BOP will respond to a request from a victim or witness who wishes to be notified regarding a specific inmate's release or release-related activities. See Program Statement 1490.06, CN-1, <u>Victim and Witness Notification Program</u>. A victim or witness of a serious crime requesting to be notified of a specific inmate's release must make this request to the United States Attorney in the district where the prosecution occurred. Upon receiving such a request from the U.S. Attorney, BOP staff will promptly notify the victim or witness when his or her request for notification has been received. Staff will then notify the requestor of the initial designation of the inmate, the inmate's application for RIS, for Treaty Transfer application, upcoming parole hearing, upcoming military clemency hearing, and should the inmate be released to parole, to an RRC, or to the community, as well as any incidence of furlough, escape, death, and in the event that the inmate is recommitted to custody after release from incarceration.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Bureau of Prisons is committed to the safety of the community, and to the security and wellbeing of incarcerated inmates. Consult the BOP website and contact the relevant CLC should you have any further questions or concerns.

VII. APPENDICES

Appendix A: Summary Table, Application of Title 18 U.S.C. Chapter 313 Inmates with Mental Disease or Defect

Appendix B: Regional Counsel and Consolidated Legal Center (CLC) Offices

Appendix C: Relevant Acronyms

<u>APPENDIX A</u>: Summary--18 U.S.C. § 313, Inmate Mental Disease/Defect

CITATION	STATUTORY OBLIGATION	COMMENTAR Y
PRETRIAL	PRETRIAL	PRETRIAL
§ 4241(a) – Motion to determine competency of defendant.	The defendant may be committed for a reasonable period (not to exceed 30 days) for examination; the court may approve a 15-day extension. See 18 U.S.C. § 4247(b). The examination will be conducted at the nearest suitable facility to the criminal court, if practicable. See 18 U.S.C. § 4247(b).	The court may permit a psychiatrist or psychologist in the community to conduct the examination. This is particularly appropriate if the defendant is on bond. The BOP will not cover the cost of an examination conducted in the community. If the BOP is responsible for the § 4241 study, psychologists will conduct the examination. The time period for a § 4241 study begins to run from the time the defendant arrives at the institution.
§ 4241(d) – Determination whether the defendant will attain competency.	If found mentally incompetent, due to a mental disease or defect, the defendant shall be hospitalized for a reasonable period of time (not to exceed 4 months), as is necessary to determine whether there is a substantial probability that in the foreseeable future, he will attain competency. The defendant may be committed for an additional reasonable period until the defendant attains competency. The defendant may be committed for an additional reasonable period until either the defendant attains competency, or until charges are dropped. If at the end of the time period, specified, it is determined that the defendant's mental condition has not so improved, as to permit proceedings to go forward, the defendant is subject to the provisions of § 4246 and § 4248.	
§ 4242 – Determination of the existence of insanity at the time of the offense.	The defendant may be committed for a reasonable period (not to exceed 45 days) for examination; the court may approve a 30-day extension. See 18 U.S.C. § 4247(b). The examination will be conducted at the nearest suitable facility to the criminal court, if practicable. See 18 U.S.C. § 4247(b).	The court may permit a psychiatrist or psychologist in the community to conduct the examination, which is useful if the defendant is out on bond. If the BOP is responsible for the § 4242 study, psychologists will conduct the examination. The time period for a § 4242 study begins to run from the time the defendant arrives at the institution.

Application of Title 18 U.S.C. Chapter 313; Inmates with Mental Disease or Defect⁷

⁷ Note: All examinations ordered pursuant to Chapter 313 are conducted in accordance with the provisions of 18 U.S.C. § 4247 (b) and (c). Specifically, 18 U.S.C. § 4247(b) requires that the examination be conducted by a licensed or certified psychiatrist or psychologist and that the person to be examined be committed to the custody of the Attorney General for placement in a suitable facility. Unless impracticable, the examination shall be conducted in a suitable facility closest to the court.

CITATION	STATUTORY OBLIGATION	COMMENTARY
POST-TRIAL	POST-TRIAL	POST-TRIAL
§ 4243(a) – Commitment of a person found not guilty only by reason of insanity.	The acquittee must be committed to a suitable facility for examination for a reasonable period not to exceed 45 days (the court may approve a 30-day extension), to determine if his or her release would create a substantial risk of bodily injury to others, or serious damage to the property of another.	The Attorney General may seek civil commitment under State law. See 18 U.S.C. § 4247(i)(B).
§ 4243(e) – Civil commitment should the court determine that releasing the acquittee would create substantial risk of bodily injury to others, or serious damage to the property of another.	The acquittee shall be committed to the custody of the Attorney General. The acquittee will remain hospitalized until the Attorney General is able to arrange for release to the State where the acquittee was domiciled (or tried) for treatment and care, or until the acquittee's condition has improved such that release would no longer pose a risk of bodily injury to others, or serious damage to the property of another. The director of the facility shall file annual reports regarding the acquittee's condition. See 18 U.S.C. § 4247(e).	The State may agree to assume responsibility for care and treatment of the acquittee; this includes assuming all financial responsibility.
§ 4243(f) – Certification for discharge should the director of the facility determine that the acquittee may be released.	The director of the facility must file with the court a certificate stating that the acquittee has recovered such that release, conditionally or unconditionally, would no longer create a substantial risk of bodily injury to others, or serious damage to the property of another. The acquittee may not be released without court order. Revocation of conditional release is handled by the original committing court.	The director of the facility must file with the court a certificate stating that the acquittee is ready to be released.
§ 4244(a) – Motion to determine whether the convicted person is suffering from mental disease or defect and requires treatment prior to sentencing.	The defendant may be committed for a reasonable period (not to exceed 30 days) for examination; the court may approve a 15-day extension.	The court may permit a psychiatrist or psychologist in the community to conduct the examination. The BOP will not cover the cost of an examination conducted in the community.
§ 4244(d) – Civil commitment of a convicted defendant who is suffering from mental disease or defect and requires treatment prior to sentencing.	The defendant shall be committed for hospitalization in a suitable facility under a provisional sentence. The provisional sentence is valid up to the statutory maximum for the underlying crime under § 4244(d). The director of the facility must file annual reports regarding the defendant's condition. See 18 U.S.C. § 4247(e). When the defendant no longer suffers from a disease or defect, the director shall file a certificate with the court; the court may modify the provisional sentence. See 18 U.S.C. § 4244(e).	

CITATION	STATUTORY OBLIGATION	COMMENTARY
POST-TRIAL	POST-TRIAL	POST-TRIAL
§ 4245(a) – Motion to determine whether a sentenced person is suffering from a mental disease or defect and needs mental health	The defendant may be committed for a reasonable time (not to exceed 30 days) for examination; the court may approve a 15-day extension. The examination will be conducted at the nearest	
treatment.	suitable facility to the court, if practicable.	
§ 4245(d) – Commitment of a person who is presently suffering from a mental disease or defect for the treatment of which he is in need of custody for care or treatment in a suitable facility.	The defendant shall be committed to the custody of the Attorney General for hospitalization until the inmate is no longer in need of custody or until the expiration of the sentence of imprisonment, whichever occurs earlier.	
§ 4246(a) – Certification of an inmate who is due for release but continues to suffer from mental disease or defect, and as a result, is dangerous.	The director of the facility may file a certificate with the court if, because of the person's mental condition, his or her release would create a substantial risk of bodily injury to others or serious damage to property of another, where that person's sentence is about to expire, or who has been committed to the custody of the Attorney General pursuant to § 4241(d), or against whom all criminal charges have been dismissed solely for reasons related to the mental condition of the person. The certificate shall be transmitted to the clerk of court for the district in which the person is confined.	
	Filing a certificate, pursuant to § 4246(a), stays the person's release.	
§ 4246(d) – Civil commitment of an inmate who cannot be released because a mental condition creates risk of harm to others.	The inmate shall be committed until the State will assume responsibility for the inmate or the person's condition improves such that release would not create a substantial risk of bodily injury to another or serious damage to property of another.	The State may agree to assume responsibility for the care and treatment of the person. The Attorney General may seek civil commitment under State law. <u>See</u> 18 U.S.C. § 4247(i)(B).
	The Attorney General shall try to make arrangements for the State to assume responsibility for the inmate's care and treatment.	
	Revocation of conditional release is handled by the original committing court.	
§ 4248 – Civil commitment of a sexually dangerous person.	The Bureau of Prisons may certify to the court that the person is a sexually dangerous person. The court shall order a hearing to make that determination.	The State may agree to assume responsibility for the care and treatment of the person.
	If after the hearing, the court finds by clear and convincing evidence that the person is sexually dangerous, the court shall commit the person to the custody of the Attorney General.	
	The Attorney General shall try to make arrangements for the State to assume responsibility for the committee's care and treatment.	
	Revocation of conditional release is handled by the original committing court.	



Consolidated Legal Centers (CLCs) & CLC Leaders

<u>MXRO</u>

MXRO Holly Pratesi **Ph:** (301) 317-3128 FCI Cumberland, MD FCI Memphis, TN FCI Morgantown, WV FCI Hazelton, WV USP Hazelton, WV

FCI Becklev

Christine Hummert Ph.: (304) 252-9758x4105 FPC Alderson, WV FCI Beckley, WV FCI Gilmer, WV USP Lee, VA FCI McDowell, WV

FMC Butner

Christy Kelley Ph.: (919) 575-3900x6079 FCI Butner, NC FMC Butner, NC LSCI Butner, NC FCI Petersburg, VA

FMC Lexington Joshua Billings **Ph.:** (859) 255-6812x5110 FCI Ashland, KY USP Big Sandy, KY FMC Lexington, KY FCI Manchester, KY USP McCreary, KY

<u>NERO</u>

NERO Adam Johnson **Ph.:** (215) 521-7380 FCI Elkton, OH FCI Fairton, NJ FCI Fort Dix, NJ FCI Loretto, PA FCI McKean, PA FDC Philadelphia, PA

FCC Allenwood Jennifer Knepper Ph.: (570) 523-1251 FCI Allenwood, PA LSCI Allenwood, PA USP Allenwood, PA USP Canaan, PA USP Lewisburg, PA FCI Schuylkill, PA

FMC Devens Patrick Ward **Ph.:** (978) 796-1042 FCI Berlin, NH FMC Devens, MA FCI Danbury, CT FCI Ray Brook, NY

MCC New York Sophia Papapetru Ph.: (718) 840-4200x4744 MDC Brooklyn, NY MCC New York, NY FCI Otisville, NY

<u>NCRO</u>

NCRO Christina Scofield Ph.: (913) 551-1128 USP Leavenworth, KS MCFP Springfield, MO FPC Yankton, SD

FCC Florence

Vacant Ph.: (719) 784-5216 FCI Englewood, CO ADX Florence, CO FCI Florence, CO FPC Florence, CO USP Florence, CO

FMC Rochester Kara Anderl **Ph.:** (507) 424-7445 FMC Rochester, MN FPC Duluth, MN FCI Sandstone, MN FCI Waseca, MN AUSP Thomson, IL

St. Louis, MO Joseph McGuire Ph.: (314) 539-2384 MCC Chicago, IL FCI Greenville, IL USP Marion, IL FCI Milan, MI FCI Oxford, WI FCI Pekin, IL FCI Terre Haute, IN USP Terre Haute, IN

WXRO

WXRO Jolene Harcrow **Ph.:** (209) 956-9739 USP Atwater, CA FCI Dublin, CA FCI Herlong, CA FCI Mendota, CA

MDC Los Angeles May Shin Ph.: (213) 485-0439x5428 FCC Lompoc, CA MDC Los Angeles, CA FCI Terminal Island, CA FCC Victorville, CA

FCI Phoenix Clay Cook Ph.: (623) 465-9757x5120 FCI Phoenix, AZ FCI Safford, AZ MCC San Diego, CA FCC Tucson, AZ

FDC SeaTac George Cho **Ph.:** (206) 870-570x1057 FDC Honolulu, HI FDC SeaTac, WA FCI Sheridan, OR

<u>SCRO</u>

SCRO Kacie Inman Ph.: (972) 730-8923 FCI Big Spring, TX FMC Carswell, TX FMC Ft. Worth, TX FCI La Tuna, TX FCI Seagoville, TX

FCC Beaumont Vacant Ph.: (409) 727-8187x3241 FCC Beaumont, TX FPC Bryan, TX

FDC Houston Troy Dorrett Ph.: (713) 229-4104 FCI Bastrop, TX FDC Houston, TX FCC Oakdale, LA FCI Pollock, LA USP Pollock, LA FCI Three Rivers, TX

FTC Oklahoma City Robert Clark **Ph.:** (405) 680-4204 FTC Oklahoma City, OK FCC Forrest City, AR FCI Texarkana, TX FCI El Reno, OK

<u>SERO</u>

April 1, 2025

SERO

Vacant Ph: (678) 686-1281 FCI Atlanta FPC Montgomery, AL MDC Guaynabo, PR FCI Jesup, GA FCI Talladega, AL

FCC Coleman Jeffrey Middendorf Ph.: (352) 689-7382 FCC Coleman-Camp, FL FCC Coleman-Low, FL FCC Coleman-Med., FL USP I Coleman, FL USP II Coleman, FL

SC/FCI Edgefield Lara Crane **Ph.:** (803) 637-1307 FCI Bennettsville, SC FCI Edgefield, SC FCI Estill, SC FCI Williamsburg, SC

FCI Miami

Elizabeth Garcia Ph.: (305) 259-2511 FCI Marianna, FL FCI Miami, FL FDC Miami, FL FPC Pensacola, FL FCI Tallahassee, FL

FCC Yazoo City Michael Figgs-Ganter Ph.: (662) 751-4800x4589 FCI Aliceville, AL FCI Yazoo City-Low, MS FCI Yazoo City-Med., MS USP Yazoo City, MS

<u>APPENDIX C</u>: Relevant Acronyms and Abbreviations⁸

180	Admission and Orientation
A&O	
ADX	Administrative Maximum Facility Federal Bureau of Prisons
BOP	
CCC	Community Corrections Center
CIM	Central Inmate Monitoring
CLC	Consolidated Legal Center
CMU	Communication Management Unit
COIF	Cost of Incarceration Fee
CRP	Certification Review Panel
D.C.	District of Columbia
DHO	Discipline Hearing Officer
DSCC	Designation and Sentence Computation Center
EBRR	Evidence-Based Recidivism Reduction
ELL	Electronic Law Library
FCC	Federal Correctional Complex
FCI	Federal Correctional Institution
FDC	Federal Detention Center
FMC	Federal Medical Center
FOIA	Freedom of Information Act
FPC	Federal Prison Camp
FPI	Federal Prison Industries
FSA	First Step Act of 2018
FTC	Federal Transfer Center
GCT	Good Conduct Time
GED	General Education Diploma
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
IFRP	Inmate Financial Responsibility Program
J&C	Judgment and Commitment Order
JJDPA	Federal Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Act
MCC	Metropolitan Correctional Center
MDC	Metropolitan Detention Center
MINT	Mothers and Infants Together
MVRA	Mandatory Victims Restitution Act
MXR, MARO	Mid-Atlantic Regional Office, Bureau of Prisons
NCRO	North Central Regional Office, Bureau of Prisons
NERO	Northeast Regional Office, Bureau of Prisons
NERO	National Institute of Corrections
OGC	Office of General Counsel
OMDT	
	Office of Medical Designations and Transportation

⁸ This list only includes acronyms referenced throughout this document. For information on other regularly used acronyms in the BOP, please visit: <u>All Acronyms (BOP.gov)</u>.

PAProductive ActivityPLRAPrison Litigation Reform Act of 1995PREAPrison Rape Elimination Act of 2003PSIPresentence InterviewPSRPresentence ReportRDAPResidential Drug Abuse ProgramRISReduction in SentenceRPPResidential Parenting ProgramRRCResidential Reentry CenterRRMSpecial Administrative MeasureSCROSouth Central Regional Office, Bureau of Prisons
PREAPrison Rape Elimination Act of 2003PSIPresentence InterviewPSRPresentence ReportRDAPResidential Drug Abuse ProgramRISReduction in SentenceRPPResidential Parenting ProgramRRCResidential Reentry CenterRRMResidential Reentry Management BranchSAMSpecial Administrative MeasureSCROSouth Central Regional Office, Bureau of Prisons
PSIPresentence InterviewPSRPresentence ReportRDAPResidential Drug Abuse ProgramRISReduction in SentenceRPPResidential Parenting ProgramRRCResidential Reentry CenterRRMResidential Reentry Management BranchSAMSpecial Administrative MeasureSCROSouth Central Regional Office, Bureau of Prisons
RDAPResidential Drug Abuse ProgramRISReduction in SentenceRPPResidential Parenting ProgramRRCResidential Reentry CenterRRMResidential Reentry Management BranchSAMSpecial Administrative MeasureSCROSouth Central Regional Office, Bureau of Prisons
RISReduction in SentenceRPPResidential Parenting ProgramRRCResidential Reentry CenterRRMResidential Reentry Management BranchSAMSpecial Administrative MeasureSCROSouth Central Regional Office, Bureau of Prisons
RPPResidential Parenting ProgramRRCResidential Reentry CenterRRMResidential Reentry Management BranchSAMSpecial Administrative MeasureSCROSouth Central Regional Office, Bureau of Prisons
RRCResidential Reentry CenterRRMResidential Reentry Management BranchSAMSpecial Administrative MeasureSCROSouth Central Regional Office, Bureau of Prisons
RRMResidential Reentry Management BranchSAMSpecial Administrative MeasureSCROSouth Central Regional Office, Bureau of Prisons
SAMSpecial Administrative MeasureSCROSouth Central Regional Office, Bureau of Prisons
SCRO South Central Regional Office, Bureau of Prisons
SDP Sexually Dangerous Person
SERO Southeast Regional Office, Bureau of Prisons
SHU Special Housing Unit
SMU Special Management Unit
SOCRB Sex Offender Certification Review Branch
SOMP Sex Offender Management Program
SOR Statement of Reasons
SORNA Sex Offender Reporting and Notification Act
SOTP, -R, -NR Sex Offender Treatment Program, -Residential, -Nonresidential
TB Tuberculosis
TC Time Credit
TRULINCS Trust Fund Limited Inmate Computer System
UDC Unit Discipline Committee
UNICOR Federal Prison Industries tradename
USMCFP United States Medical Center for Federal Prisoners
USMS United States Marshals Service
USP United States Penitentiary
USPO United States Probation Office
USSC United States Sentencing Commission
USSG United States Sentencing Guidelines
VCCLEA Violent Crime Control and Law Enforcement Act of 1994
WXRO Western Region, Bureau of Prisons